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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Your Directors present their report of the Group, consisting of Dreamscape Networks Limited (the ‘Company’ or ‘Dreamscape’) 
and the entities it controlled, for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.  

Directors 

The names of Directors who held office during or since the end of the financial year are noted below. Directors were in office 
for the entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 

Peter James 
Non-Executive Chairman 

Peter has extensive experience as Chair, Non-Executive Director, and Chief Executive Officer across a range of publicly listed 
and private companies particularly in emerging technologies and e-commerce. He is a successful investor in a number of 
Digital Media and Technology businesses in Australia and the US and travels extensively to research new innovations and 
consumer trends in the US and also in Asia. He is also an experienced and successful business leader with significant 
strategic and operational expertise.  

Peter holds a BA degree with Majors in Business and Computer Science and is a Fellow of the Australian Computer Society. 
He is also a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.   

Previously among other roles, Peter was a long term director of iiNet Limited where he chaired iiNet’s Strategy and 
Innovation Committee and was actively involved in the $1.5bn sale to TPG in August 2015.   

Other current directorships of listed companies 
• Macquarie Telecom Ltd. (Non-executive Chairman since April 2012) 
• Nearmap Ltd. (Non-executive Chairman since December 2015) 
• Droneshield Limited (Non-executive Chairman since April 2016) 
• UUV Aquabotix Ltd. (Non-executive Chairman since March 2017) 
• Keytone Dairy Corporation Limited (Non-executive Director since September 2018) 

Former directorships of listed companies in the last three years 
• Nil 

Special duties 
• Member of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee 
• Chair of the Independent Board Committee for Scheme of Arrangement 

 

Mark Evans 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Mark comes with extensive corporate experience. Previously the CEO of an international security countermeasures 
company, Mark was responsible for Asia-Pacific distribution agreements with Korean manufacturers of technology and 
Internet based security products. 

Continuing his move up the corporate ladder, Mark moved on to a very successful long-term career in Sales & Marketing 
for one of Australia's largest and most admired billion dollar private companies. Here, Mark was renowned for his precise 
planning, strategy and execution, as well as the building of highly successful teams with winning cultures. 

Since being appointed CEO, Mark has proven himself as a true leader of Dreamscape Networks. Soon after his arrival, the 
company experienced the rapid global growth that has cemented its status as a market leader. 

Other current directorships of listed companies 
• Nil 

Former directorships of listed companies in the last three years 
• Nil 

Special duties 
• Nil 
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Ng Shin Ein  
Non-Executive Director 

Ng Shin Ein is an investor and entrepreneur who mentors and invests in growth companies in the digital marketing and 
technology space. She is the founder and Managing Partner of Gryphus Capital, a pan-Asian private equity investment firm. 
She invests actively and leads a network of family offices and other private equity firms to provide strategic capital for 
companies. 

Ms Ng was admitted as an advocate and solicitor of the Singapore Supreme Court and practiced as a corporate lawyer where 
she advised clients on joint ventures, mergers and acquisitions and fundraising exercises.  Subsequent to legal practice, Shin 
spent a number of years at the Singapore Exchange, where she was responsible for developing Singapore’s capital market 
and bringing foreign companies to list in Singapore.  

Shin currently sits on the boards of other companies listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange, and was appointed 
the youngest ever director of Fairprice, Singapore’s largest supermarket operator.  In addition to corporate boards, Shin 
serves on the boards of the Singapore International Foundation and the Middle East Institute, National University of 
Singapore. She is also Singapore’s Non-Resident Ambassador to The Republic of Hungary. 

Other current directorships of listed companies 
• Sabana Reit (director since September 2019) 
• Starhub Limited (director since September 2018) 
• Avarga Limited (director since April 2013) 
• Yanlord Land Group Limited (director since May 2006) 

Former directorships of listed companies in the last three years 
• First Resources Limited (retired April 2019) 

Special duties: 

• Member of the Independent Board Committee for Scheme of Arrangement 
 

Evan Cross 
Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary 

Evan is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

He has extensive corporate finance experience in investment banking both in Australia and the US and has held key finance 
or executive director roles in a number of private and ASX-listed companies in a wide range of industries including 
technology, healthcare, mining and food and beverage. 

Other current directorships of listed companies: 
• OpenDNA Limited (director since July 2015) 

Former directorships of listed companies in the last three years: 
• Ephraim Resources Limited (resigned June 2017) 
• Activistic Limited (resigned April 2017) 
• MyFiziq Limited (resigned October 2016) 

Special duties 
• Chairman of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee 
• Member of the Independent Board Committee for Scheme of Arrangement 
• Acquisitions 
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Gavin Gibson – resigned 22 November 2018 (remains as Chief Operations Officer) 
Executive Director and Chief Operations Officer 

Gavin comes from a strong technical background, operating as the CTO for a number of IT companies prior to joining 
Dreamscape Networks. Having been involved with Dreamscape and its subsidiary projects since inception, Gavin has worked 
closely with all aspects of operations from support, human resource, design and development, to project and product 
management, marketing, PR and management. 

With his broad knowledge and experience, Gavin combines a clear vision and overview of day-to-day operations with an 
ability to tackle any arising challenges. Gavin expertly manages the build and implementation of Dreamscape’s internal 
systems to improve speed, efficiency, profitability and overall customer experience. 

 
 
Michael Malone – resigned 28 September 2018 
Non-Executive Director 
 
Michael founded iiNet Limited in 1993 and continued as CEO until retiring in 2014. iiNet grew into a major 
telecommunications provider with revenue of over one billion dollars and a market capitalisation of over one billion dollars.    

Michael is also Chairman of Diamond Cyber, a Perth-based cyber security response business, where he is the Founding 
Chairman.  He also serves as a non-executive director on NBN Co Limited since April 2016.  Michael was also a founding 
director and chairman of auDA (the .au Domain Administration).   

Michael holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics and Post Graduate Diploma of Education in Mathematics. He 
is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and Australian Institute of Management. 
 
 
Company Secretaries 

Anthony (Tony) Sparks 
Tony is a Chartered Accountant and Senior Executive with over 25 years’ experience in strategic, financial, taxation, company 
secretarial and corporate matters in various organisations and industries. 

Tony was recently the Chief Financial Officer for a privately owned resources company with a $3bn project. He has previously 
held the position of Managing Director for an ASX Listed company and has over 10 years’ experience as a Company Secretary 
and the Chief Financial Officer for various ASX Listed companies. 

Tony was appointed as Chief Financial Officer in  February 2016 to oversee all aspects of the Group’s financial management, 
financial reporting, corporate and company secretarial matters.   

Evan Cross 
Evan was appointed to the position of Joint Company Secretary on 4 March 2019. 
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Directors’ meetings 

The number of meetings held and attended by each of the Directors of the Company during the financial year are set out 
below: 

 Board Meetings 
Audit and Compliance 
Committee Meetings  

Risk Management 
Committee Meetings  

 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 
Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 
Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 
Number 
attended 

Peter James 13 13 2 2 n/a n/a 
Mark Evans 13 13 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Ng Shin Ein 13 13 1 1 - - 
Evan Cross 13 13 2 2 n/a n/a 
Gavin Gibson¹ 4 4 n/a n/a - - 
Michael Malone² 2 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

1. Resigned 22 November 2018 
2. Resigned 28 September 2018  

Directors’ interests in shares and options of the Company 

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options in shares of the Company as at the date 
of this report. 

 

 

Unissued shares under options 
At the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the Company under options are: 
 

Grant date Number of shares under option Exercise Price Expiry Date 

2 November 2016 11,000,000 0.25 30 June 2020 
2 November 2016 8,250,000 0.35 30 June 2021 
2 November 2016 6,750,0001 0.45 30 June 2022 
2 November 2016 2,814,900 0.25 31 December 2019 

 28,814,900   
1 1,500,000 options issued to former Director Michael Malone were cancelled on 25 July 2019. 

Principal activities 

The principal activities of Dreamscape Networks Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), comprise the business of 
providing domain name, hosting and online services and solutions. 

Review of Operations 

Dreamscape Networks Limited (the ‘Company’) delivered a strong full year profit result, with positive contributions from both 
South East Asia and the underlying business in Australia. The results are consistent with the Company’s framework to deliver 
sustainable profitable growth over the long term. The Company’s investment into South East Asia in personnel, infrastructure 
and marketing is part of the Company’s core strategy aimed at driving long-term growth in shareholder value.  

The Company continues its progress with its integration of the most recent acquisitions and their operations, with the full 
benefit of synergies and operational consolidation expected to be realised in financial year 2020.  

The Australian underlying business increased its Total Bookings1 year-on-year contributing 6% to the total growth in Bookings 
for the Group. This is an encouraging result given the fact that the Australian market place remains flat. The balance of the 
growth in Total Bookings being 13% has come from the acquisitions made in Australia and South East Asia, but primarily 
driven by the year-on-year improvements in the Singapore based, Vodien Internet Solutions Group of companies. 

 Fully paid ordinary shares Share options 
 Number Number 

Peter James 1,016,000 9,500,000 
Mark Evans 95,450,000 5,000,000 
Evan Cross 4,680,000 2,500,000 
Ng Shin Ein                           80,000                             -    
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This increase in Total Bookings flows through to be the improvement in Revenue, which has generated an improved Gross 
Profit with a corresponding improvement in the Net Profit for the year ended 30 June 2019.  

Highlights for the fiscal year 

• Bookings for the year increased by 19% to $77.7 million; 
• Revenue for the year increased by 21% to $74.3 million; 
• Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortisation (EBITDA)² of $14.9 million; 
• Successful acquisition of a number of domestic and international strategic bolt on businesses;  
• Successful transition of global headquarters to Singapore. The move integrates marketing for the Group’s brands, 

Crazy Domains, Vodien Internet solutions and Sitebeat. It also consolidates the executive team, and strengthens 
finance, administration and human resources functions for the Dreamscape Networks Group; 

• Premium customer care service satisfaction maintained at 92%+ during the financial year; and 

• Successful increase in the CBA acquisition funding facility to a total of $23 million. 
 

Reconciliation of Statutory Net Profit after Tax (NPAT) to Statutory Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and 
Amortisation (EBITDA)   
 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 

 $’000 $’000 
Statutory NPAT 5,647 2,733 
Adjustments:   
  Interest income – net 1,291  509 
  Depreciation and amortisation 3,486 2,104 
  Income tax expense 1,700 990 
Statutory EBITDA 12,124 6,336 

 

Reconciliation of Statutory EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA 

Adjusted EBITDA for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 was $14.9 million (2018: $10.3 million). 

 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 

 $’000 $’000 

   
Statutory EBITDA 12,124 6,336 

Add:   
  Effect of net deferred revenue 2,070 2,109 
  Share-based compensation 123 602 
  Unrealised foreign exchange (gain) / losses – net (171) 516 
  Acquisition related costs 317 529 
  Restructure related costs 284 170 
  Scheme of Arrangement costs 177 - 
Adjusted EBITDA 14,924 10,262 

The Company believes this Non-IFRS and operational measure is useful in monitoring and understanding the Group’s 
business and they should not be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for IFRS measures.   

Notes:  

1. “Total Bookings” represents cash receipts from the sale of products to customers in a given period before effecting adjustments for net 
refunds granted within the period. This provides valuable insight into the sales of our products and the performance of our business since 
we typically collect payment at the time of sale.   

2. “Adjusted EBITDA” is a Non-IFRS cash-based financial measure of the Dreamscape Networks Group performance that aligns with the 
Bookings and operating expenditures to evaluate the core operating profitability of the business. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated using 
the Statutory EBITDA calculation, primarily adjusted for the change in deferred revenue so as to include Total Bookings, the change in 
the deferred costs associated with the Total Bookings, and excluding the non-cash equity-based expenses including share-based 
compensation and unrealised foreign currency exchange losses/gains, transaction expenses and non-core one-off expenses.  

 

 



DREAMSCAPE NETWORKS LIMITED 
ABN 98 612 069 842 

-7- 

Risk Management 

The Board ensures a pro-active and structured approach to potential material business sustainability and compliance risk.  
The Company established a Risk Management Committee to assist in overseeing and monitoring the Company’s risk 
management policies and processes.  In May 2019, the Company combined the Risk Management Committee with the Audit 
Committee to establish one Audit and Risk Committee. The Company’s risk management systems are used to assist in 
identifying and managing potential and apparent business, economic, environmental and social sustainability risks. It regularly 
assesses risk which may include, but not limited to, credit, economic, liquidity, operational, environmental, OH&S, regulatory, 
market related, technology, social sustainability, human resources, product, brand and reputation. 
 
 
Significant changes in the state of affairs 

Acquisition of Domain Name Registrar 

On 1 July 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brands of the business operating as 
Domain Name Registrar (DNR) for a total consideration of $8.5 million. 

DNR’s principal focus is domain registrations (0.9% .au market share) and web hosting, with approximately 80% of its 
business coming from domain registrations and 20% from hosting. 

The consideration of $8.5 million was funded through Dreamscape’s existing Cash Advance Facility with Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia. There was no dilution to shareholders. 
 

Acquisition of PacHosting 

On 1 October 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of 100% of Hong Kong based hosting and 
domain business PacHosting from privately held Pacificnet Hosting Limited for a total consideration of USD $3.0 million.  

PacHosting’s principal business is website and email hosting for SMB’s and domain registration. The acquisition is consistent 
with Dreamscape’s strategy to acquire earnings accretive, low risk assets that will be integrated with the Vodien brand. 

The acquisition price was negotiated on deferred terms payable before 30 September 2019. Total consideration will be fully 
funded by internally generated cash flows and available debt facilities. 
 

Acquisition of Webserver.sg 

On 15 August 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of Webserver.sg Pte Ltd. 100% of Webserver’s 
shares were acquired by Dreamscape’s subsidiary Vodien Internet Solutions Pte Ltd. 

Webserver.sg focuses on delivering domain names, shared hosting and email hosting services that add significant value to 
end customers. 

Total consideration of S$460,000 was fully funded from operating cash flows. 
 

Acquisition of Hosting Australia  

On 1 October 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brand assets 
of the business operating as Hosting Australia. Hosting Australia is a newly established hosting business based in Melbourne, 
compatible with Dreamscape’s business model. Total consideration of $800,000 was funded from internally generated cash 
flows and available debt facilities.  
 

Acquisition of Servermule 

On 10 December 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of Nimbus2 Pty Ltd. Nimbus2 operates the 
hosting business Servermule. 

Servermule is a well-established hosting business funded in 2011 and based in Sydney. Servermule is compatible with 
Dreamscape’s business model.  

Total consideration of $700,000 was funded from internally generated cash flows and available debt facilities. 
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Conversion of performance rights 

In line with the terms and conditions set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 3 November 2016, 1,073,333 performance 
rights previously issued to Senior Employees of the Group were converted to ordinary shares on 31 July 2018 following 
achievement of the relevant Tranche 1 vesting condition. 

Acquisition Funding Facility Increased 

On 10 December 2018, the Company announced that it had negotiated amendments to its existing $20 million cash advance 
facility with Commonwealth Bank of Australia. The facility increased to $23 million with monies available for immediate 
drawdown.  
 
 
Dividends 

The Board did not declare nor pay any dividends for the financial year ended 30 June 2019, or propose to pay any dividends 
in relation to the financial year. 
 
 

Events after Reporting Date 

Scheme Implementation Deed with Web.com Group, Inc. 

On 24 July 2019, the Company announced that it had entered a Scheme Implementation Deed (“SID”) with Web.com Group, 
Inc. (“Web.com”) under which Web.com (or its wholly owned subsidiary) will acquire 100% of the issued share capital of 
Dreamscape by way of a Scheme of Arrangement (“Scheme”).  Web.com is wholly owned by an affiliate of Siris Capital 
Group, LLC (“Siris”), a leading private equity firm based in New York.   

Under the Scheme, Dreamscape’s shareholders will receive cash consideration of A$0.27 per Dreamscape ordinary share 
(“Scheme Consideration”). Thereafter, Dreamscape will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Web.com.   

The Scheme Consideration values Dreamscape’s issued equity at the date of this report at approximately A$105.2 million. 
The transaction will be funded from Web.com’s existing cash on balance sheet and its revolver facility and its offer does not 
include a financing condition. 

Once the Scheme is implemented and Dreamscape will be delisted from the official list of the ASX, the Scheme is conditional 
upon entering the Siteplus Call Option Deed, under which Dreamscape has a call option over 100% of Siteplus’s shares for 
a grant price of A$2.00 (“Siteplus Call Option”).  If approved by Dreamscape Shareholders and subsequently exercised by 
Dreamscape, an aggregate price of A$12 million will be payable to the owners of Siteplus (“Vendors”) and to certain 
performance rights holders. 

Siteplus is a related party to CEO and Managing Director, Mark Evans, thus the Siteplus Call Option Deed is therefore a 
transaction with a related party of Dreamscape. 

The Scheme Meeting is being held on Monday 7 October 2019, where Dreamscape’s Shareholders will have the opportunity 
to vote on the Scheme and a separate General meeting will be also be held on 7 October 2019 to vote on the Siteplus Call 
Option. 

Subject to the various approvals and other conditions of the Scheme being satisfied, the Scheme is expected to be 
implemented in late-October 2019.   

 

Conversion of Performance Rights 

In line with the terms and conditions set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 3 November 2016, 806,666 performance 
rights previously issued to Senior Employees of the Group were converted to ordinary shares on 25 July 2019 as a result of 
satisfaction of the relevant Tranche 3 vesting condition. 266,668 performance rights lapsed as a result of vesting conditions 
not met. 
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Likely developments and expected results 

As previously noted in this report, Dreamscape entered a Scheme of Implementation Deed (“SID”) with Web.com Group, Inc. 
(“Web.com”). If implemented, the Scheme will result in Web.com Aus BidCo Pty Ltd (Web.com BidCo), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of Web.com Group, Inc, acquiring all Dreamscape Shares for a cash payment of A$0.27 per share. 

If the Scheme is approved by the Requisite Majority of Dreamscape Shareholders, the Court and is implemented: 

• All Dreamscape shares will be transferred to Web.com BidCo; 
• In exchange, Dreamscape shareholders will receive a cash payment if A$0.27 for each Dreamscape share held on 

the record date; 
• Dreamscape will become a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Web.com BidCo and an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary 

of Web.com, and will apply to be removed from the official list of ASX.  
 
Indemnification and insurance of Directors and Officers 

The Company has agreed to indemnify all the Directors of the Company for any liabilities to another person (other than the 
Company or related body corporate) that may arise from their position as Directors of the Company and its controlled entities, 
except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. 

During the financial year the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors and officers of the 
Company and its controlled entities against any liability incurred in the course of their duties to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the 
premium.   

 
Remuneration Report 

The Remuneration Report, which forms part of the Directors’ report, outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the 
Key Management Personnel of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2019. Please refer to pages 11 to 15. 

 
Environmental legislation 

The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to any significant environmental legislation. 

 
Non-audit services 

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are outlined 
in Note 28 of the consolidated financial statements. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the services do not compromise the auditor’s independence as all non-audit services 
have been reviewed to ensure that they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor and none of the services 
undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board. 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires our auditors, HLB Mann Judd, to provide the Directors of the company 
with an Independence Declaration in relation to the audit of the annual financial report.  This Independence Declaration is set 
out on page 18 and forms part of this Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

 
Rounding of Amounts 

The Company has applied the relief available to it under ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, and accordingly certain 
amounts in the annual financial report and the Directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest $1,000, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the Key Management Personnel (KMP) of Dreamscape 
Networks Limited (the “Company”) and its controlled entities (the “Group”). The Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors’ 
Report and has been audited in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

For the purpose of this report, KMP is defined as those persons who, directly or indirectly, have authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing, and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group. 
 
I. Key Management Personnel 

The names and designation of KMP are set out below. These individuals were in office for the entire period unless otherwise 
stated. There were no changes to KMP between the reporting date and the date the annual financial report was authorised for 
issue. 

Non-Executive Directors 
Peter James Chairman and Non-Executive Director  
Michael Malone¹ Non-Executive Director  
Evan Cross Non-Executive Director  
Ng Shin Ein Non-Executive Director  
 

1. Michael Malone resigned on 28 September 2018. 
 
Executive Directors 

Mark Evans Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director  
Gavin Gibson² Chief Operations Officer and Executive Director  
 

2. Gavin Gibson resigned as an Executive Director on 22 November 2018. Gavin continues as Chief Operations Officer. 
 
Senior Executives 
Tony Sparks Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary  

 
II. Remuneration Policy 

The Group’s remuneration policy was structured to ensure that it is relative to the scale and growth of the business, and meets 
remuneration principles. 

In determining the remuneration for KMP, the Board ensures that the remuneration framework: 
• is competitive and reasonable, designed to attract, motivate, and retain directors who will create value for stakeholders; 
• reflect core performance requirements and expectations, taking into account the clearly-specified individual and corporate 

performance targets; and 
• is transparent and carried out for the benefit of all its stakeholders. 

Remuneration will be reviewed at least annually, on the basis of individual performance and their contribution to the Group's 
growth in accordance with its mission statement. The assessment will be directed by measurable KPIs, shareholders' interests 
and confidence, market influences, and desired standing. 

In light of the Company’s size and nature, the Non-executive Directors take responsibility in ensuring that the framework is in 
compliance with remuneration principles, and considers both the level and structure of remuneration and incentive policies for 
the KMP within the Company.   

III. Use of Remuneration Consultants 

No remuneration consultants were engaged by the Company during the year. 

IV. Remuneration Structure  

The key components of the remuneration structure are: 
• Fixed compensation, including post-employment benefits – superannuation and end of service benefits 

• Short-term incentives – bonus payment to Executive Directors and Senior Executives, measured by the following key 
performance indicators:  

Performance  
Indicator 

% Maximum bonus remuneration# 

Achievement ranging from 95% to 105+% of budgeted Bookings 10% 
Achievement ranging from 95% to 105+% of budgeted Adjusted EBITDA 35% 
Achievement ranging from 95% to 102% of budgeted IFRS Cost of Doing Business 15% 
Achievement ranging from 95% to 105% of IFRS Net Profit After Tax 40% 
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• Long-term incentives – share options and performance rights 
 

#Maximum AU$ equivalent of short-term incentives is 62.5% of the Executive Directors’ and Senior Executive’s annual base remuneration, 
respectively. 
 

a. Non-Executive Directors’ Service Agreements 

Upon appointment, all Non-Executive Directors enter into contracts for services with the Company, which itemise the 
responsibilities relevant to the director, remuneration package and benefits, and other terms and conditions. 
 
Key provisions of the Service Agreements 
All Service Agreements stipulate that they have no fixed term and there will be no termination benefits. 
 
Key components of remuneration in the Service Agreements 
 

 
Annual base  
remuneration 

 
Post-employment 

benefits1 

 
No. of Share 

options granted 

No. of Performance 
rights granted 

Peter James AU$ 120,000 Superannuation 9,500,000 - 
Michael Malone¹ AU$   80,000 Superannuation 5,000,000 - 
Evan Cross AU$   80,000 Superannuation 2,500,000 - 
Ng Shin Ein  AU$   80,000 Superannuation - - 

1. Michael Malone resigned on 28 September 2018. 
 

b. Executive Directors’ and Senior Executive’s Employment Contracts 

Executive Directors and a Senior Executive are provided with employment contracts, which enumerate duties and 
responsibilities, remuneration package and other employee benefits, key performance indicators (KPIs), and other terms and 
conditions.  
 
Key provisions in the Employment Contracts 

Name Employment term Notice period Termination Benefit 

Mark Evans No fixed term Three months’ notice from the 
employee. 12 months’ notice from the 
Company. 

Three months’ base remuneration. 

Gavin Gibson No fixed term Six months’ notice from either party. Six months’ base remuneration 

Tony Sparks No fixed term Six months’ notice from either party. Six months’ base remuneration 
 

Key components of remuneration in the Employment Contracts 
• Fixed compensation 

 Annual base remuneration Annual housing subsidy Annual cost of living allowance 
Mark Evans SG$350,000 + US$163,260 SG$72,000 + US$37,185 SG$24,000 
Gavin Gibson SG$337,260 SG$72,000 SG$24,000 
Tony Sparks SG$328,500 SG$72,000 SG$24,000 
 
• Short-term and Long-term incentives 

 Short-term incentives Long-term incentives2 

 
Maximum bonus 

remuneration1 
No. of Share options 

granted 
No. of Performance rights 

granted 
Mark Evans 62.5% of annual base remuneration 5,000,000 – 
Gavin Gibson 62.5% of annual base remuneration  3,000,000 – 
Tony Sparks 62.5% of annual base remuneration  2,500,000 600,000 
 
1The bonus remuneration is based on predetermined Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) by the Board of Directors to a maximum of 62.5% of 
annual base remuneration (as set out above).  
2Maximum AU$ equivalent of long-term incentives is 50% of the Executive Directors’ and Senior Executive’s annual base remuneration, 
respectively. 
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2. Remuneration of KMP 
 

 Short-term employee benefits Post-employment benefits Share-based payments2   
Financial year 
2019 
 

Remuneration 
and benefits1 

$ 

Non-monetary 
benefits 

$ 

 
Superannuation 

$ 

End of service 
benefits 

$ 

Share  
options 

$ 

Performance  
rights 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 

Performance 
related 

% 

Non-Executive Directors        
Peter James3 130,000 – 11,400 – 22,234 – 163,634 14% 
Michael Malone6 20,000 – 1,900 – 6,340 – 28,240 22% 
Evan Cross4 260,000 – 7,600 – 5,851 – 273,451 2% 
Ng Shin Ein 77,681 – – – – – 77,681 0% 

Executive Directors        
Mark Evans8 1,083,394 – – (88,600) 11,702 – 1,006,496 33% 
Senior Executive         
Gavin Gibson5 662,631 – – – 7,021 – 669,652 29% 
Tony Sparks 586,963 – 19,621 – 5,851 25,000 637,435 34% 
 2,820,669 – 40,521 (88,600) 58,999 25,000 2,856,588  

 Short-term employee benefits Post-employment benefits Share-based payments3   
Financial year 
2018 
 

Remuneration 
and benefits2 

$ 

Non-monetary 
benefits 

$ 

 
Superannuation 

$ 

End of service 
benefits 

$ 

Share  
options 

$ 

Performance  
rights 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 

Performance 
related 

% 

Non-Executive Directors        
Peter James 120,000 – 11,400 – 74,368 – 205,768 36% 
Michael Malone 80,000 – 7,600 – 39,141 – 126,741 31% 
Evan Cross4 260,000 – 7,600 – 19,571 – 287,171 7% 
Ng Shin Ein7 13,333 – – – – – 13,333 0% 

Executive Directors        
Mark Evans 676,272 – – 26,834 39,141 – 742,247 5% 
Gavin Gibson 295,301 – 32,227 – 23,485 – 351,013 7% 

Senior Executive        
Tony Sparks 270,598 – 30,912 – 19,571 75,000 396,081 24% 
 1,715,504 – 89,739 26,834 215,277 75,000 2,122,354  
 

Above amounts were determined on the basis of the salaries and benefits expenditure to the Group. 
1 Remuneration and benefits include accrued performance bonuses based on determined KPIs, subject to Board approval after the issuance of the annual financial report.  
2 Fair value in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based payment. For further details, please refer to Note 22 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
3 Peter James remuneration includes $10,000 (2018: Nil) for consultancy services with respect to the proposed takeover by Web.com, paid to a company in which Mr James is a director and shareholder. 
4 Evan Cross remuneration includes $180,000 (2018: $180,000) for consultancy services on strategic acquisition advice and ancillary services paid to a company in which Mr Cross is a director and shareholder.   
5 Gavin Gibson resigned as an executive director on 22 November 2018 and continues as Chief Operations Officer. 
6 Michael Malone resigned on 28 September 2018. 
7 Ng Shin Ein was appointed on 11 May 2018. 
8 End of services benefits include the reversal of prior period provisions.
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3. KMP Shareholdings, option holdings and holdings of performance rights 
 
• Ordinary shares held by KMP 

As at balance date, the interests held either directly, indirectly, or beneficially, by each key management person, including 
their related parties, are set out below:  

 

Balance at   1 
July 2018 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration2 

No. 
Other changes 

No. 

Balance as at  
30 June 2019 

No. 
Peter James  556,000  - 460,0001 1,016,000 
Mark Evans  95,450,000  - - 95,450,000 
Gavin Gibson  4,120,000  - - 4,120,000 
Evan Cross  4,160,000  - 520,0001 4,680,000 
Ng Shin Ein  -    - 80,0001 80,000 
Michael Malone 2,330,000 - (2,330,000)3 - 
Tony Sparks  500,000  200,0002 - 700,000 
 107,116,000 200,000 (1,270,000) 106,046,000 
1Shares purchased during the financial year. 
2Performance rights converted to ordinary shares upon achievement of vesting conditions. 
3 Represents the balance of ordinary shares held on Mr Malone’s resignation as a director on 28 September 2018. 

• Options held by KMP 

The options granted to the Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors, and Senior Executives are set out below: 

 

Options granted 
as at 1 July 2018 

No. 

 
Movements 

during the 
financial year 

No. 

 
 

Balance as at  
30 June 2019 

No. 

 
Vested and 

exercisable at  
30 June 2019 

No. 

 
Unvested and 

not exercisable 
at  

30 June 2019 
No. 

Peter James 9,500,000 - 9,500,000 9,500,000 - 
Mark Evans 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 5,000,000 - 
Gavin Gibson 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 
Evan Cross 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 
Michael Malone 5,000,000 (5,000,000)1 - - - 
Ng Shin Ein - - - - - 
Tony Sparks 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 
 27,500,000 (5,000,000) 22,500,000  22,500,000  - 
1 Represents the balance of options held on Mr Malone’s resignation as a director on 28 September 2018. Of this amount, 3,500,000 options 
had vested with the balance being cancelled. 

 
No options were issued, forfeited or exercised during the financial year. 

Terms of the Options (as originally granted): 
 

Tranche 
Number of 

Options Grant date Expiry Date 
Exercise 

Price 

Fair value 
at grant 

date 

Value 
recorded  

year ended 
30 June 

2018 

Value 
recorded  

year 
ended 30 
June 2019 

Vesting 
Condition 
Date*** 

1 11,000,000 2 Nov 2016 30 Jun 2020 0.25 583,903 - - 30 June 2017 
2 8,250,000 2 Nov 2016 30 Jun 2021 0.35 250,147 150,915 - 30 June 2018 
3 8,250,000 2 Nov 2016 30 Jun 2022 0.45 171,043 64,362 58,999 30 June 2019 

 27,500,000    1,005,093 215,277 58,999  
 
*** Vesting condition date means the holder remains in employment within the Group at that date. 

Full details of the inputs used in valuing the options are contained in Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements. 
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• Performance rights held by a Senior Executive 

The rights granted to the Senior Executive are set out below: 

 

Performance 
rights as at 1 July 

2018 
No. 

Converted to 
ordinary 

shares during 
the financial 

year 
No. 

 
 

Balance as at  
30 June 2019 

No. 

 
Vested and 

convertible at  
30 June 2019 

No. 

 
Unvested and not 

convertible at  
30 June 2019 

No. 
Tony Sparks 400,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 - 
 
No performance rights were issued during the financial year. Mr Sparks remaining 200,000 performance rights were converted 
to ordinary shares subsequent to balance date. 

Terms of the Performance Rights:  
 
 Number Expiry date Vesting condition 
Tranche 1 200,000 31 July 2017 The holder remains in the employment of any company in the Group at 

30 June 2017 (converted to ordinary shares during the 2018 year) 
Tranche 2 200,000 31 July 2018 The holder remains in the employment of any company in the Group at 

30 June 2018 (converted to ordinary shares during the 2019 year) 
Tranche 3 200,000 31 July 2019 The holder remains in the employment of any company in the Group at 

30 June 2019 (converted to ordinary shares during subsequent to 
balance date) 

Full details of the valuation methodology used in valuing the rights are contained in Note 21 of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
4.   Loans to KMP 

No loans were made to KMP during the financial year. 

 

5. Other transactions with KMP 
 
Loan Agreement 
On 28 September 2018, a loan agreement was entered into with Cloudsafe Holdings Limited, a company owned by CEO and 
Managing Director, Mark Evans, for US$1 million. The agreement was entered into at arm’s length and interest charged at 
8% per annum. Funds were used for a business acquisition and the loan has been repaid in full prior to balance date. Total 
interest paid on the loan was US$59,178. 
 
Services Agreement 
The Company has renewed its existing agreement with Siteplus Pte. Ltd. The agreement covers the development and 
licensing of software promoted and commercialised by the Company. Siteplus is a related party to CEO and Managing 
Director, Mark Evans. The agreement was entered into at arm’s length. Total service fees paid to Siteplus during the year 
were $977,169. 
 
 
 

---- END OF REMUNERATION REPORT --- 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 

As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Dreamscape Networks Limited 
for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of: 

 

a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;  
and 

 

b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Perth, Western Australia 

30 September 2019 

L Di Giallonardo 

Partner 

 



DREAMSCAPE NETWORKS LIMITED 
ABN 98 612 069 842 

 

-17- 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
 
  2019 2018 
    

 Notes $’000 $’000 
    
Revenue 4 74,264 61,565 
Direct costs  (28,391) (25,070) 
Gross profit  45,873 36,495 

Salaries and employee benefits 5 (18,980) (17,471) 
Marketing and promotions 5 (3,969) (3,688) 
General and administrative expenses 5 (10,360) (8,215) 
Operating profit  12,564 7,121 

Other income - net  450 123 
Depreciation and amortisation 13,14 (3,486) (2,104) 
Finance expenses  (1,291) (509) 
Foreign exchange losses - net  (890) (908) 
Profit before income tax  7,347 3,723 

Income tax expense 6 (1,700) (990) 

Net profit for the year  5,647 2,733 

    
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax    
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligation  12 - 
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss    
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations’ financial statements  3 (109) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of income tax  15 (109) 
    

Total comprehensive income for the year  5,662 2,624 

    
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 8 1.45 0.72 
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 8 1.45 0.71 

 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 
 
  2019 2018 
    

 Notes $’000 $’000 
ASSETS    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 9 7,102 5,627 
Other financial assets 10 2,663 381 
Trade and other receivables 11 5,004 5,206 
Prepayments and other deposits 12 2,025 1,224 
Total current assets  16,794 12,438 

Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 13 9,581 8,667 
Goodwill and other intangible assets 14 63,592 42,851 
Deferred tax assets 6 1,043 1,284 
Other   721 1,018 
Total non-current assets  74,937 53,820 

TOTAL ASSETS  91,731 66,258 
    
LIABILITIES    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 5,883 5,012 
Borrowings 16 2,452 313 
Accrued expenses 17 4,265 2,606 
Other current liabilities 17 1,322 1,748 
Deferred revenue - net 4 22,652 19,435 
Income tax payable  1,886 1,123 
Total current liabilities  38,460 30,237 

Non-current liabilities    
Borrowings 16 18,360 11,506 
Deferred revenue - net 4 12,169 11,485 
Deferred tax liabilities 6 4,103 118 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 18 233 291 
Total non-current liabilities  34,865 23,400 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  73,325 53,637 
    
NET ASSETS  18,406 12,621 

    
EQUITY    
Issued capital 21 23,494 23,225 
Share-based payment reserve 22 1,318 1,464 
Accumulated losses  (6,577) (12,224) 
Other reserves  171 156 
TOTAL EQUITY   18,406 12,621 

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

  2019 2018 
    

 Notes $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers  74,951 63,286 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (62,031) (54,375) 
Other income received  194 183 
Income taxes paid  (658) (1,219) 
Net cash flows from operating activities 9 12,456 7,875 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property and equipment 13 (4,099) (6,314) 
Purchase of intangible assets 14 (749) (725) 
Proceed from sale of property and equipment  398 - 
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired 25 (13,951) (22,912) 
Payment for lease deposits  (70) (859) 
Payment of acquisition-related costs  (317) (668) 
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities  (18,788) (31,478) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from loan 16 13,742 15,300 
Loan finance charges 16 (1,011) (443) 
Repayment of loans 16 (4,859) (3,115) 
Net cash flows from financing activities  7,872 11,742 
    
Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  1,540 (11,861) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  5,627 17,698 
Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  (65) (210) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9 7,102 5,627 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

  
Issued 
capital 

Share-based 
payment 
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

Other 
reserves 

Total 
equity 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
       
Balance at 1 July 2017  12,920 1,180 (14,957) 265 (592) 
Net profit for the year  - - 2,733 - 2,733 
Other comprehensive loss for the year  - - - (109) (109) 
Total comprehensive income for the year  - - 2,733 (109) 2,624 
       

Shares issued during the year  9,987 - - - 9,987 
Share issued from conversion of 
performance rights  318 (318) - - - 
Share-based payments  - 602 - - 602 
Balance at 30 June 2018  23,225 1,464 (12,224) 156 12,621 
       
Balance at 1 July 2018  23,225 1,464 (12,224) 156 12,621 
Net profit for the year  - - 5,647 - 5,647 
Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - 15 15 
Total comprehensive income for the year  - - 5,647 15 5,662 
       

Share issued from conversion of 
performance rights  269 (269) - - - 
Share-based payments  - 123 - - 123 
Balance at 30 June 2019  23,494 1,318 (6,577) 171 18,406 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

NOTE 1: ABOUT THIS REPORT 

The following major business acquisitions were completed during the year: 

Domain Name Registrar 

On 1 July 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of the customers, systems and brands of the business operating as 
Domain Name Registrar (DNR) for a total consideration of $8.5 million. 

DNR’s principal focus is domain registrations (0.9% .au market share) and web hosting, with approximately 80% of its 
business coming from domain registrations and 20% from hosting. 

The consideration of $8.5 million was funded through Dreamscape’s existing Cash Advance Facility with Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia. There was no dilution to shareholders. 

Webserver.sg 

On 15 August 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of Webserver.sg Pte Ltd. 100% of Webserver’s shares were 
acquired by Dreamscape’s subsidiary Vodien Internet Solutions Pte Ltd. 

Webserver.sg focuses on delivering domain names, shared hosting and email hosting services that add significant value to 
end customers. 

Total consideration of S$460,000 was fully funded from operating cash flows. 

PacHosting 

On 1 October 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of Hong Kong based hosting and domain business 
PacHosting from privately held Pacificnet Hosting Limited for a total consideration of USD $3.0 million.  

PacHosting’s principal business is website and email hosting for SMB’s and domain registration. The acquisition is consistent 
with Dreamscape’s strategy to acquire earnings accretive, low risk assets that will be integrated with the Vodien brand. 

The acquisition price was negotiated on deferred terms payable before 30 September 2019. Total consideration will be fully 
funded by internally generated cash flows and available debt facilities. 

Hosting Australia 

On 1 October 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brand assets of the business 
operating as Hosting Australia. Hosting Australia is a newly established hosting business based in Melbourne, compatible 
with Dreamscape’s business model. Total consideration of $800,000 was funded from internally generated cash flows and 
available debt facilities.  

Servermule 

On 10 December 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of Nimbus2 Pty Ltd. Nimbus2 operates the hosting business 
Servermule. 

Servermule is a well-established hosting business funded in 2011 and based in Sydney. Servermule is compatible with 
Dreamscape’s business model.  

Total consideration of $700,000 was funded from internally generated cash flows and available debt facilities. 

 

The implications of the above acquisitions on the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
• The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 reflect the abovementioned 

acquisitions1 from their respective acquisition dates. 
• The comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2018 does not reflect the abovementioned acquisitions1.  

 
1 Refer to Note 26: Interest in subsidiaries. 
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The annual financial report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the annual financial report, comprising the consolidated financial statements 
and notes thereto, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

The financial information in this annual financial report for the year ended 30 June 2019 was authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 30 September 2019. 
 

NOTE 3: BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The financial statements comprising the consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been prepared on an accrual 
basis and are based on historical costs. For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group is a 
for-profit entity.  

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement 
of cash flows, and consolidated statement of changes in equity provide comparative information as at and for the year ended 
30 June 2018. Where necessary, the comparatives have been reclassified to be consistent with the current period disclosures. 

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 

The Directors have also reviewed the Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted for the year ended 30 June 
2019. Those which may have a material impact on the Group are set out below: 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars (AUD), which is the functional and presentation 
currency of the Group. Under the option available to the Company under ASIC Legislative Document 2016/191, the 
accompanying financial information presented in AUD has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise 
stated.  

AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 will change how the Group accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117, which 
were “off-balance sheet”.  On initial application of AASB 16, for all leases (except as noted below), the Group will: 

• Recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position, initially 
measured at the present value of the future lease payments. 

• Recognise depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

• Separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest 
(presented in operating activities) in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Lease incentives (e.g. rent-free period) will be recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities whereas under AASB 117 they resulted in the recognition of a lease liability incentive, amortised as a reduction of 
rental expenses on a straight-line basis. 

Under AASB 16, right-of-use assets will be tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.  This 
will replace the previous requirement to recognise a provision for onerous lease contracts. 

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and 
office furniture), the Group will opt to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by AASB 16. 

The Group has identified leases where AASB 16 will have an impact, but has elected not to early adopt this standard and is 
currently assessing the effect of application for future periods. 

Note 20 (b) discussed the commitments at balance date for operating leases in place at that date. These commitments will 
form the basis of accounting for the effects of AASB 16. 

Impact on finance leases 

The main differences between AASB 16 and AASB 117 with respect to assets formerly held under a finance lease is the 
measurement of the residual guarantees provided by the lessee or lessor. 

AASB 16 requires that the Group recognises as part of its lease liability only the amount expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, rather than the maximum amount guaranteed as required by AASB 117. 

On initial application, the Group will present equipment previously included in property, plant and equipment within the line 
item for right-of-use assets and the lease liability, previously presented with borrowing, will be presented in a separate line 
for lease liabilities. 
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NOTE 3: BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

Based on an analysis of the Group’s finance leases as at 30 June 2019 on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist 
at that date, the directors of the Company have assessed that the impact of this change will not have an impact on the 
amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

Adoption of new and revised standards 

Standards and interpretations applicable to 30 June 2019 

In the year ended 30 June 2019, the Directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and interpretations issued 
by the AASB that are relevant to the Group and effective for the current annual reporting period. 

The Group has applied all new and revised Australian Accounting Standards that apply to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2018, including AASB 9 Financial Instruments. 

AASB 9 replaces AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The key changes introduced by AASB 9 
in relation to the accounting treatment for financial instruments include: 

• Simplifying the general classification of financial assets into those measured at amortised cost and those measured 
at fair value; 

• Permitting entities to irrevocably elect, on initial recognition, for gains and losses on equity instruments not held for 
trading to be presented in other comprehensive income (OCI); 

• Requiring entities that elect to measure financial liabilities at fair value, to present the portion of the change in fair 
value arising from changes in the entity’s own credit risk in OCI, except when it would create an “accounting 
mismatch”. 

• Introducing new impairment requirements using an “expected credit loss” (“ECC”) model to recognise an allowance.  

The application of AASB 9 has not materially impacted the classification and measurement of the consolidated Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Significant accounting judgments and key estimates 

The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised if it affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

• Goodwill and other intangible assets 

Goodwill on businesses acquisitions is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may be impaired, and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  

The Group performs impairment testing of goodwill at the end of each reporting period by assessing the recoverable amount 
of cash generating units (CGUs), considering both qualitative (external and internal impairment indicators specific to the 
Group’s operating environment) and quantitative (expected revenue growth rates and cash flow projections) measures). 

Software is amortised over its estimated useful life, which is based on the expected usage of the asset. Any changes in the 
accounting estimate affecting amortisation are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period 
of change. 

• Property and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The carrying 
amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount of these assets. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets. 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An item if property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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NOTE 3: BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

Significant accounting judgments and key estimates (continued) 

• Recovery of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses as management considers 
that it is probable that sufficient taxable temporary differences are expected to reverse in a future period or future taxable 
profits will be available to utilize those temporary differences. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits.  

• Share-based payment reserves 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with directors and employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuator using a Black-
Scholes model, using the assumptions detailed in Note 22. 

• Revenue 

The core principle of AASB 15 is that it requires identification of discrete performance obligations within a transaction and 
associated transaction price allocation to these obligations. Revenue is recognised upon satisfaction of these performance 
obligations, which occur when control of goods or services is transferred, rather than on transfer of risks and rewards. 
Revenue received for a contract that includes a variable amount is subject to revised conditions for recognition, whereby it 
must be highly probable that no significant reversal of the variable component may occur when the uncertainties around its 
measurement are removed. 

The Company exercises considerable judgement taking into account all the relevant facts and circumstances when applying 
each step of this model to its contracts with customers. 

 
Going concern 
Notwithstanding, the fact that the Group has a working capital deficiency of $21.7m (2018: $17.8m), the Directors are of the 
opinion that the Group is a going concern for the following reasons: 

• The Company reported a net profit of $5.65 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2019; 
• The Group ended the financial year with a cash balance of $7.1 million and net assets of $18.4 million; 
• The Group recorded net cash inflows from operating activities for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 of $12.46 

million; 
• The largest current liability is deferred revenue – net of $22.65m, which represents unearned revenue, net of deferred 

costs, that have been recognised on a time proportion basis for accounting purposes only and not as an amount due 
for refund.   

• The Company is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, having the flexibility to raise capital, if required; 
• The Group is confident that it will maintain its profitability in the coming financial year. 

 
Accounting policies and methods of computation 

a. Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company: 

• has power over the investee; 
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement in with the investee; and 
• has the ability to its power to affect its returns. 

The Company reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements listed above. 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights if an investee, it has the power over the investee when the 
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights are sufficient to give 
it power, including: 

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote 
holders; 

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; rights arising from other contractual 
arrangements; and 
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NOTE 3: BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

Accounting policies and methods of computation (continued) 

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholder meetings. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company 
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when 
the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount paid 
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company. 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference 
between: 

• The aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and 
• The previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 

interests. 

All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the 
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred 
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by the applicable AASBs). The fair value of any investment retained in 
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent 
accounting under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, when applicable, the cost on initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

b. Foreign Currencies 

(i) Transactions and balances 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities arising in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at the 
rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position and any gain or loss arising thereon 
is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date of the initial recognition. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of 
non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value 
of the item. 

(ii) Foreign-controlled entities 

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of 
that statement of financial position; 

• income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates (unless 
this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which 
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity, being recognised in the foreign 
currency translation reserve. 
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NOTE 3: BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

Accounting policies and methods of computation (continued) 

The Group’s foreign-controlled entities with their respective functional currencies being currencies other than AUD are as 
follows: 

Name of subsidiary Country Functional currency Currency symbol 
Dreamscape Networks Inc. Philippines Philippine Peso PHP 
Dreamscape Networks Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore Dollars SGD 
Dreamscape Networks LLC Ukraine Ukrainian Hryvnia UAH 
Dreamscape Networks International Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore Dollars SGD 
Vodien Internet Solutions Pte. Ltd.¹ Singapore Singapore Dollars SGD 

¹Includes Vodien’s subsidiaries. 

 
All other entities’ functional currencies are AUD. 

On disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving 
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or 
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange 
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to 
profit or loss. 

In addition, in relation to the partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group 
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates 
or jointly arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of 
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

NOTE 4: REVENUE 

The core principle of AASB 15 is that it requires identification of discrete performance obligations within a transaction and 
associated transaction price allocation to these obligations. Revenue is recognised upon satisfaction of these performance 
obligations, which occur when control of goods or services is transferred, rather than on transfer of risks and rewards. 
Revenue received for a contract that includes a variable amount is subject to revised conditions for recognition, whereby it 
must be highly probable that no significant reversal of the variable component may occur when the uncertainties around its 
measurement are removed. 

The Company exercises considerable judgement taking into account all the relevant facts and circumstances when applying 
each step of this model to its contracts with customers. 

The Standard requires that revenue is recognised at the “transaction price" when certain contractual obligations are met but 
with any "variable consideration" elements of the price recognised when it is "highly probable" that there will be no reversal 
of that revenue. 

Domain registration, hosting, solutions 

• Domain registrations: revenue is recognised at the time of the billing, as at that point in time the Company considers 
it has met its contractual obligations. 

• Hosting: revenue is recognised evenly over the life of the service.  
• Solutions: revenue is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.  

Revenue from services 

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of 
completion of the contract is determined as follows:  

• Contract income is recognised by reference to the total actual costs incurred at the end of the reporting period relative 
to the proportion of the total costs expected to be incurred over the life of the contract; 

• Servicing fees are recognised by reference to the proportion of the total cost of providing the service for the product 
sold; and 

• Revenue from time and material contracts are recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours are delivered.  
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NOTE 4: REVENUE (continued) 

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis for the period for which it relates. Where revenue is received in advance, 
the revenue is deferred and disclosed as a current or non-current liability in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
depending on the period to which it relates. 

Finance income 

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to that assets’ net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Disaggregation of revenue 

The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of services over time and at a point in time in the following sources of revenue.  
 

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 

Segment revenue    
Domain registration  32,572 26,481 
Hosting and solutions  41,559 34,995 
Other revenue  133 89 
Total  74,264 61,565 

 
Timing of revenue recognition    
At a point in time:    
Domain registration  32,572 26,481 
Other revenue  133 89 
  32,705 26,570 

 
Over time:    
Hosting and solutions  41,559 34,995 
    

Total  74,264 61,565 

Unearned revenue represents the amount generated from the sale of products or services where the services are yet to be 
performed pursuant to the agreement. Deferred costs represent the amount paid for the purchase of domains from registration 
authorities and products from suppliers. 

Unearned revenue and deferred costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position on a time proportion 
basis for the period for which it relates. These periods extend from one to ten years. 
 

Classification of net deferred revenue is as follows: 
  2019 2018 
Current:  $’000 $’000 
Unearned revenue  23,307 20,351 
Deferred costs  (655) (916) 
  22,652 19,435 
    
Non-current:    
Unearned revenue  12,169 11,485 
Deferred costs  - - 
  12,169 11,485 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DREAMSCAPE NETWORKS LIMITED 
ABN 98 612 069 842 

-28- 

NOTE 5: EXPENSES 
 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 
Salaries and employee benefits   

Salaries and wages 16,251 14,125 
Share-based payment expense (i) 123 602 
Employee amenities and superannuation 833 812 
Non-executive directors' fees 321 327 
Other employee benefits 1,452 1,605 
 18,980 17,471 

Marketing and promotions 
Web and online media 3,059 3,567 
Partnerships and sponsorships 418 6 
Other marketing 492 115 
 3,969 3,688 

 
General and administrative expenses   

Merchant fees 2,237 2,022 
Occupancy 3,254 2,352 
Communication 1,201 1,014 
Professional fee 1,976 1,208 
Travel and entertainment 561 681 
Subscriptions 330 192 
Insurance and warranties 194 169 
Taxes and licenses 182 181 
Other expenses 425 396 
 10,360 8,215 

 
(i) Share-based payment expense   
KMP options expense 59 215 
KMP performance rights expense (net of cancellations) 64 387 
 123 602 

NOTE 6: INCOME TAX 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to 
unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.  

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint 
ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised. 
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAX (continued) 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.  

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 
• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 

not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss; or 

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint 
ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.  

Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which 

case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; 
and 

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.  

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

Cash flows are included in the consolidated statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified 
as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 

Dreamscape Networks Limited, being incorporated in Australia, is a resident for Australian tax purposes. 

The subsidiaries of the Company include a combination of wholly owned Australian incorporated and foreign incorporated 
entities. The current income tax expense is a product of the taxable income multiplied by the applicable domestic tax rate of 
the country in which the subsidiary entity is domiciled. 

Australia has Controlled Foreign Company (CFC) rules which are designed to attributable taxable income back to an 
Australian controller (in this case, the Company) of a CFC where certain types of passive or concessionally taxed income is 
warehoused offshore. The Australian Controller is then subject to Australian income tax on an accruals basis on the amount 
of attributable income from a CFC even if the profits of the CFC have not been repatriated back to Australia (e.g. via 
dividends).  

The Company wholly owns foreign resident subsidiaries, who are CFCs, which derive the majority of their income from passive 
income in the form of "tainted services income" (which refers to income from services provided to an Australian resident 
directly or indirectly through an associate). These foreign resident subsidiaries include entities domiciled in the United Arab 
Emirates, Singapore, Philippines, and Ukraine. As a result, the income tax calculations in this financial report are based on the 
Company being assessed on its share of the attributable income from its CFCs. 
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAX (continued) 

The major components of income tax recognised in profit or loss are: 
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
Current tax expense  1,423 861 
Deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of 
temporary differences  277 129 
  1,700 990 

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit/loss reconciles to the income tax expense in the consolidated 
financial statements as follows: 

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
Accounting profit before income tax  7,347 3,723 

    

Income tax expense calculated at 30%  2,205 1,117 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating 
taxable income:    

• Effect of non-deductible expenses  17 2 
• Effect of non-deductible share-based payments  37 118 
• CFC attributable income  997 564 
• Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other 

jurisdictions  (1,259) (859) 
• (Over)/under provision in prior year  (148) 262 
• Previously unrecognised CFC losses now recouped to reduce 

current tax expense  - (31) 
• Other  (149) (183) 

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income  1,700 990 

 
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on 
taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in this tax rate since the previous reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax assets comprise: 

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
Share issue costs  335 503 
Provisions for employee benefits  65 211 
Depreciation  (199) 48 
Other timing differences  842 522 
  1,043 1,284 

 
Deferred tax liabilities comprise: 

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 

Appreciation of values in intangible asset (Tradename)  3,948 - 
Accelerated depreciation for income tax purpose  155 118 
  4,103 118 
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAX (continued) 

2019 
Opening 
balance 

Charged to 
income 

Charged to 
equity 

Acquisitions/ 
disposals 

Closing 
balance 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Reconciliation of deferred tax assets      

Share issue costs 503 (168) - - 335 
Provisions for employee benefits 211 (146) - - 65 
Depreciation 48 (247) - - (199) 
Other timing differences 522 (260) - - 262 
Losses - 580 - - 580 

 1,284 (241) - - 1,043 
      
      
Reconciliation of deferred tax 
liabilities      

Appreciation of values in 
intangible asset (Tradename) - - - 3,948 3,948 
Accelerated depreciation for 
income tax purposes 118 37 - - 155 
 118 37 - 3,948 4,103 

 
 

2018 
Opening 
balance 

Charged to 
income 

Charged to 
equity 

Acquisitions/ 
disposals 

Closing 
balance 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Reconciliation of deferred tax assets      

Share issue costs 861 (358) - - 503 
Provisions for employee benefits 136 75 - - 211 
Depreciation 164 (116) - - 48 
Other timing differences 2 520 - - 522 

 1,163 121 - - 1,284 
      
Reconciliation of deferred tax 
liabilities      

Accelerated depreciation for 
income tax purposes - 118 - - 118 
 - 118 - - 118 

 

NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING 

For management purposes, the Group managed its operations as a single business unit. All of the Group’s activities are 
interrelated, and discrete financial information is reported to the Board of Directors as a single segment. Accordingly, all 
significant operating decisions are based upon the analysis of the Group as one segment. The financial results from this 
segment are equivalent to the consolidated financial statements of the Group as a whole. 
 
The revenue from external customers based on geographical areas is significantly attributed to Australia, which accounts for 
approximately 70.5% of the total revenue. Customers from other countries individually contribute to approximately 29.5% of 
the total revenue.  

Non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets, goodwill and intangible assets) based on geographical areas is attributed 
as follows: 

• Australia 22.8% • Ukraine 0.8% 
• Singapore 19.9% • Indonesia 0.2% 
• Philippines 53.2% • Hong Kong 0.1% 
• UAE 3.0%   
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NOTE 8:  EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing 
equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for: 
 Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends); 
 After-tax effects of dividends and interests associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 

recognised as expenses; and 
 Other non-discretionary changes in revenues and expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of 

potential ordinary shares; divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. 

  2019 2018 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)   1.45 0.72 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  1.45 0.71 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares - basic  388,755,506 380,446,009 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares - diluted  389,562,172 382,592,675 

Options and performance rights are considered potential ordinary shares and are included in the determination of diluted 
earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive. On 30 June 2019, 806,666 (2018: 2,146,666) performance shares 
are considered to be dilutive. 

 

NOTE 9: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, current accounts with banks and other short-term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value and which are free from encumbrances. 
 

 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 

Cash in bank – at call 7,100 5,625 
Cash on hand 2 2 
 7,102 5,627 

 
The reconciliation of net profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities is as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 

Net profit for the year 5,647 2,733 
Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortisation 3,486 2,104 
Foreign exchange losses – net 890 908 
Interest expense reclassified 1,290 509 
Acquisition related costs reclassified  318 529 
Share-based payment expense 122 602 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (178) - 

Cash flow before changes in working capital 11,575 7,385 
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NOTE 9: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
Working capital changes:   
Other financial assets (2,282) (219) 
Trade and other receivables (416) (1,587) 
Prepayments and other deposits (948) 454 
Deferred tax asset 241 (113) 
Other non-current assets 297 (917) 
Trade and other payables (122) 1,268 
Accrued expenses 1,552 (153) 
Other current liabilities (426) 782 
Deferred revenue – net 2,225 1,428 
Income tax payable 763 (117) 
Deferred tax liabilities 37 - 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (46) (118) 
Currency translation adjustments 6 (218) 
Net cash flows from operating activities 12,456 7,875 

 

NOTE 10: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 
   

Bank Guarantees (Note 19) 41 39 
Restricted Deposits 2,622 342 
 2,663 381 

Restricted Deposits represent the restricted portion of cash held in a financial institution in accordance with the existing 
contract. The amounts are released from restriction after each three months of being on deposit. 
 

NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the date of the consolidated 
statement of financial position, which are classified as non-current assets.  

The Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables (excluding advances to suppliers)’, ‘other financial 
assets (Note 10)’, and ‘advances to related parties (Note 24)’ in the consolidated statement of financial position. Such assets 
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method, less any allowance for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement 
within periods ranging from 3 days to 10 days.  

Impairment of trade receivables is continually reviewed and those that are considered to be uncollectible are written off by 
reducing the carrying amount directly. An allowance account is used when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms. Factors considered by the Group in making this 
determination include known significant financial difficulties of the debtor, review of financial information and significant 
delinquency in making contractual payments to the Group. The impairment allowance is set equal to the difference between 
the carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. Where receivables are short-term, discounting is not applied in determining the allowance.  

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within other 
expenses. When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a 
subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against other expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 

 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 

Merchant receivables 855 1,265 
Advances to suppliers 2,913 2,863 
Goods and services tax – Australia  708 760 
Other receivables 528 318 
 5,004 5,206 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above.  

The total balance of merchant receivables is aged as neither past due nor impaired for both years presented. 
 
Expected credit losses 

The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade and other 
receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component. The Group’s past experience is there has not been 
any material credit losses incurred in the past, and therefore no allowance for expected credit losses has been recorded at 
balance date. 
 

NOTE 12: PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER DEPOSITS 
 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 
Licences and subscriptions  1,498  640 
Warranty  54  146 
Rent  34  69 
Other prepayments  80  90 
Insurance  80  55 
Advertising  29  64 
Other deposits  250  160 
 2,025 1,224 

 

NOTE 13: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The carrying 
amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount of these assets. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

Data centre equipment    2-5 years 
Leasehold improvements   5 years 
Computer equipment    2-3 years 
Furniture and fixtures    4-5 years 
Motor vehicles    5 years 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

Derecognition and disposal  

An item if property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Impairment  

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with recoverable amount 
being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.  

The recoverable amount of property and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs, unless the 
asset's value in use can be estimated to approximate fair value. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or 
CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The asset or CGU is then written down to its recoverable amount.  
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NOTE 13: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

For property and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expenses as incurred, and renewals and improvements, which extend the life of the 
asset, are capitalised and amortised over the remaining life of the asset. 

Construction in progress 

Properties or assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, assets purchased but not 
put to use, or for purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all 
direct costs attributable to the design and construction of the property including related staff costs, and for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. When the assets are ready for intended use, 
the construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate property and equipment category and is depreciated in 
accordance with the Group’s policies.  
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NOTE 13: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 

 
Data 

Centre 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Computer & 
Office Equipment 

Furniture and 
Fixtures 

Motor  
Vehicles 

Construction in 
Progress 

 
Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Cost        

As at 1 July 2017 4,301 1,627 1,358 501 61 124 7,972 
Additions 1,723 1 185 10 - 4,395 6,314 
Acquired through business combination (Note 25) 862 80 126 14 - - 1,082 
Disposals (1) - (10) - - (14) (25) 
Transfers 114 - 6 - - (120) - 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations’ financial statements 71 (6) (1) (5) - 40 99 
As at 30 June 2018 7,070 1,702 1,664 520 61 4,425 15,442 
Additions 1,016 1,188 769 740 - - 3,713 
Acquired through business combination 39 - - - - - 39 
Disposals - (876) (408) (305) - - (1,589) 
Transfers and other adjustments 42 3,605 683 154 - (4,494) (10) 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations’ financial statements 73 216 154 51 2 69 565 
As at 30 June 2019 8,240 5,835 2,862 1,160 63 - 18,160 
        
Accumulated Depreciation        
As at 1 July 2017 2,052 1,179 1,203 367 45 - 4,846 
Depreciation for the year 1,459 251 171 61 5 - 1,947 
Disposals (1) - (6) - - - (7) 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations’ financial statements 10 (4) (11) (6) - - (11) 
As at 30 June 2018 3,520 1,426 1,357 422 50 - 6,775 
Depreciation for the year  1,636 777 413 133 5 - 2,964 
Disposals - (702) (398) (266) - - (1,366) 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations’ financial statements 30 60 98 17 1 - 206 
As at 30 June 2019 5,186 1,561 1,470 306 56 - 8,579 
        
Carrying value        
As at 30 June 2018 3,550 276 307 98 11 4,425 8,667 
As at 30 June 2019 3,054 4,274 1,392 854 7 - 9,581 

 



DREAMSCAPE NETWORKS LIMITED 
ABN 98 612 069 842 

 

 

-37- 

NOTE 14: GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an investment over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to 
each of the group’s CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective 
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. 

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated: 

• represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; 
and 

• is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary reporting format determined 
in accordance with AASB 8 Operating Segments. 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs), to which the goodwill relates. 
When the recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 
When goodwill forms part of a CGU (group of CGUs) and an operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the operation disposed is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal 
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this manner is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed and 
the portion of the CGU retained. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 

Intangible assets acquired separately are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is 
charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method is 
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with any changes in these accounting estimates being accounted for on 
a prospective basis. 

Software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These 
costs are amortised over their estimated useful life of two to five years. 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they satisfy 
the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately. 

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill  

The Group assesses at each reporting period whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases 
the asset is tested for impairment as part of the CGU to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Provisionally accounted intangibles 

Refer to Note 25 for the Group’s accounting policy on provisional accounting for business combinations. 
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NOTE 14: GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 
 

 
Provisionally 

accounted 
intangibles Goodwill Trade names Software Customer list Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Cost       

As at 1 July 2017 2,612 1,603 - 307 - 4,522 
Additions - - - 725 - 725 
Acquired through business combination 33,304 5,297 - 40 - 38,641 
Transfers3 (2,612) 2,612 - - - - 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations’ 
financial statements - - - 5 - 5 
As at 30 June 2018 33,304 9,512 - 1,077 - 43,893 
Additions - - - 258 705 963 
Acquired through business combination 20,314 - - - - 20,314 
Transfers3 (53,618) 30,394 23,224 - - - 
As at 30 June 2019 - 39,906 23,224 1,335 705 65,170 
       

Accumulated Amortisation       
As at 1 July 2017 - - - 274 - 274 
Amortisation for the year - - - 157 - 157 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations’ 
financial statements - - - 8 - 8 
As at 30 June 2018 - - - 439 - 439 
Amortisation for the year - - - 522 - 522 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations’ 
financial statements - - - 14 - 14 
As at 30 June 2019 - - - 975 - 975 

       

Accumulated Impairment       
As at 1 July 2017 - 603 - -  603 
Impairment for the year - - - - - - 
As at 30 June 2018 - 603 - - - 603 
Impairment for the year - - - - - - 
As at 30 June 2019 - - - - - 603 
       
As at 30 June 2018 33,304 8,909 - 638 - 42,851 
As at 30 June 2019 - 39,303 23,224 360 705 63,592 
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NOTE 14: GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 

Goodwill relates to a number business acquisitions completed by the Group. Under impairment testing, the carrying amount 
of each CGU is compared to its recoverable amount using value in use. In determining the value in use, management has 
prepared cash flow projections using the following assumptions:  

 

 Rate 
Growth rate year 11 2.5% - 7.0% 
Growth rate year 2-41 2.5% - 7.0% 
Growth rate from year 51  2.0% - 4.0% 
Discount rate2 9% 

1 The growth rates are  based on management's internal expectations and forecasts.  
2 The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to the segments and the countries in which they operate. Segment-specific risk is 
incorporated by applying individual beta which is assessed annually based on publicly available data. 

 

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based 
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU. Based on these 
calculations, goodwill is not impaired during the current year. 
 

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group 
prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in 
respect of the purchase of these goods and services.  

Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities. These amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 
days of recognition. 

 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 

Trade payables  3,133  3,301 
GST and VAT 1,034 1,455 
Credit card payables  84  145 
Other payables  1,632  111 
 5,883 5,012 

 

NOTE 16: BORROWINGS  
 2019 2018 

Secured bank loan $’000 $’000 
   
Current 2,452 313 

   
Non-current 18,360 11,506 
   
Total 20,812 11,819 

 

As announced to the ASX on 28 December 2017, the Company finalised a $20 million three-year cash advance facility with 
the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA) to assist with the funding of business acquisitions. On 10 December 2018, 
Dreamscape announced that it had negotiated amendments to the $20 million advance facility, which was increased to $23 
million with monies available for immediate drawdown. Funds were used for the balance of the purchase price for the Hong 
Kong business Pacificnet Hosting Limited (PacHosting) as announced 1 October 2018. 

The CBA bank facility has a maturity date of 28 December 2020. The facility attracts a commercial interest rate based on the 
relevant period BBSY rate. 

At 30 June 2019, the outstanding balance from the facility was $21.07 million (exclusive of debt issuing costs). 

Costs related to the loan agreement were offset against the loan as debt issuing costs. These costs are then amortised over 
the life of the loan. 
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NOTE 16: BORROWINGS (continued) 
 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

 Bank loan Related party 
loan1 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 1 July 2018 11,819 - 11,819 
Funding during the year 12,345 1,397 13,742 
Repayments during the year (3,462) (1,397)  (4,859) 
Capitalised borrowing costs (51) - (51) 
Amortisation of borrowing costs 161 - 161 
Balance at 30 June 2019 20,812 - 20,812 
    

 

 Bank loan Related party 
loan1 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 1 July 2017 - - - 
Funding during the year 12,300 3,000 15,300 
Repayments during the year (115) (3,000) (3,115) 
Capitalised borrowing costs (443) - (443) 
Amortisation of borrowing costs 77 - 77 
Balance at 30 June 2018 11,819 - 11,819 
    

 

1 Refer to Note 24 for details of this related party loan. 
 
NOTE 17: ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

Accrued expenses are recognised for costs of business or expenses that were incurred during the reporting period but unpaid 
at the end of the reporting period.  

Employee leave benefits  

Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave  

Liabilities accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave expected to be settled within 
12 months from the reporting date are recognised in other current liabilities in respect of employees’ services as at reporting 
date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating 
sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.  

 
 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 

Accrued expenses 
Salaries and benefits 1,989 1,112 
Direct product costs 1,190 947 
Marketing and promotions 341 122 
Professional fees 428 247 
Others 171 136 
Interest expense 146 42 
 4,265 2,606 

Other current liabilities 
Employee-related benefits 831 803 
Employee-related taxes 55 339 
Other liabilities 436 606 
 1,322 1,748 
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NOTE 18: PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. These provisions are measured at the present value or 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. 

Provisions are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an expectation that the settlement of the liability will occur 
at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

 

End of service and retirement benefits 

• For entities registered in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) 

Estimated amounts required to cover employees’ end of service benefits at year-end are computed pursuant to the Law 
No. 8 of 1980 of UAE Federal Labour Law and other local labour laws based on the employees’ accumulated period of 
service and current remuneration at year-end. 

The management is of the opinion that no significant difference would have arisen had the liability been calculated on 
an actuarial basis as salary inflation and discount rates are likely to have approximately equal and opposite effects. 

• For entity registered in the Philippines 

The Company recognises the retirement benefit cost of its personnel based on the provisions of Philippine Republic Act 
7641, Retirement Pay Law. 

 
The Company classified its retirement benefit as a defined benefit plan. Under the defined benefit plan, the cost of providing 
benefits is determined using the simplified projected unit credit method, with valuations being carried out at the end of each 
annual reporting period. Re-measurement comprising actuarial gains and losses is reflected immediately in the statement of 
financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-
measurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in equity and will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period. Net interest is calculated be applying the discount 
rate at the beginning of the period to the defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:  

• Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and 
settlements) 

• Net interest expense or income 
• Re-measurement 

The entity presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss as part of salaries and benefits.  

 

Superannuation 

For entities registered in Australia, superannuation benefits are contributed to numerous, but solely accumulation-type 
superannuation funds at fixed percentages of salary pursuant to employee contracts and statutory obligations. 

 

Central Provident Fund 

Central Provident Fund (CPF) payments apply to entities registered in Singapore. The CPF is a compulsory comprehensive 
savings plan for working Singaporeans and permanent residents. It is administered by the Central Provident Fund Board. 

 
 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (non-current)   

Opening balance 291 409 
Charges for the year 37 79 
Payments - (76) 
Reversal (95) (121) 
 233 291 
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NOTE 19: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Bank guarantees 

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of bank guarantees amounting to $41,310 (2018: $39,190), arising in the 
ordinary course of business. 

GST Audit 

Consistent with other foreign companies operating in the digital supply space in Australia, Dreamscape is currently the subject 
of an Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”) GST compliance audit.  Dreamscape has been cooperating fully with the ATO's 
multiple requests for information. The matter remains incomplete. No claim or assessment has been raised by the ATO and 
the Directors cannot reliably assess the financial impact (if any) on Dreamscape, at the date of this report.   

 

NOTE 20: COMMITMENTS 

(a) Capital commitments 
 

Capital commitments not provided for in the financial statements: 
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
Capital commitments in respect of property and equipment (due within one year)  - 1,620 

 

(b) Lease commitments – where the Group is a lessee 
 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 
inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when received and 
subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments between rental expense and reduction of the liability. 

 
The Group has entered into operating leases with respect to office premises and rack space. The lease terms are between 
1-5 years, which are renewable at the end of the lease period. The future minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
Within 1 year  2,517 2,491 
Within 2-5 years  4,642 6,844 
  7,159 9,355 

(c) Lease commitments – where the Group is a lessor 
 

The Group leases out office premises space to non-related parties under non-cancellable operating leases. The future 
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance date but not recognised as 
receivables, are as follows: 

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
Within 1 year  53 86 
Within 2-5 years  - 50 
  53 136 
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NOTE 21: ISSUED CAPITAL 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from the 
proceeds, net of income tax. 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
Ordinary shares   
Issued and fully paid 23,494 23,225 

 

 
Year to 

30 June 2019 
Year to 

30 June 2018 
 No. $’000 No. $’000 
Movements in ordinary shares      
Balance at beginning of year 387,773,333 23,225 344,000,000 12,920 
Issued as consideration for acquisition of Vodien1 - - 42,500,000 9,987 
Issued on conversion of performance rights 1,073,333 269 1,273,333 318 
Balance at end of year 388,846,666 23,494 387,773,333 23,225 

1 On 31 July 2017, The Company announced it had completed the acquisition of the Vodien Group, comprising Vodien Internet 
Solutions Pte Ltd and all related companies and businesses. The acquisition was wholly internally funded through the issue 
of 42.5 million shares and the payment of SGD $20 million cash. 

 

Options 
No options were issued during the year. 

 
Year to 

30 June 2019 
Year to 

30 June 2018 
 No. $’000 No. $’000 
Movements in share options      
Balance at the beginning of the year 30,314,900 1,077 30,314,900 862 
Issued during the year - - - - 
Exercised into ordinary shares - - - - 
Expensed during the year - 59 - 215 
Balance at end of year 30,314,900 1,136 30,314,900 1,077 

 

All options on issue relate to options issued to Directors and an Executive as well as to the Lead Manager of the Company’s 
IPO.  These are as follows: 

Directors and Executive 
 Number Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise 

Price 
Vesting Date 

Tranche 1 11,000,000 2 November 2016 30 June 2020 $0.25 30 June 2017 
Tranche 2 8,250,000 2 November 2016 30 June 2021 $0.35 30 June 2018 
Tranche 3 8,250,000 2 November 2016 30 June 2022 $0.45 30 June 2019 
 27,500,000     

 

Lead Manager 
Number Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise 

Price 
Vesting Date 

2,814,900 1 December 2016 31 December 2019 $0.25 1 December 2016 
 
The Black-Scholes model inputs for all options on issue are disclosed in Note 22. 

No share options were exercised during the year. 
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NOTE 21: ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 

Performance rights 
No performance rights were issued during the year. 

 
Year to 

30 June 2019 
Year to 

30 June 2018 
 No. $’000 No. $’000 
Movements in performance rights      
Balance at the beginning of year 2,146,667 387 3,820,000 318 
Converted into ordinary shares (1,073,333) (269) (1,273,333) (318) 
Cancelled during the year2  (266,668) (27) (400,000) (53) 
Expensed during the year1 - 91 - 440 
Balance at end of year 806,666 182 2,146,667 387 

 

1 At 30 June 2019, the directors have resolved that the Tranche 3 (2018: Tranche 2) vesting condition has been achieved for 
those employees still with the Company. As a result, a value of $90,833 (2018: $440,048) has been expensed, with a 
corresponding amount being reflected in share based payments reserve.  
2For those who ceased their employment with the Company during the financial year, the respective performance rights were 
cancelled and the amount of $28,333 (2018: $52,548) previously expensed was reversed.  
 
The following performance rights are on issue at balance date: 
 

 Number Expiry Date Vesting Condition 

Tranche 3 806,666 31 July 2019 The holder remains in the employment of any company in the Group at 
30 June 2019 

During the year, 1,073,333 performance rights under Tranche 2, all of which were held by an executive and other senior 
employees, were converted into ordinary shares. 
 

NOTE 22: SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) and suppliers in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees and suppliers render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).  

The cost of these equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date 
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black-Scholes model. 

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the 
price of the shares of Dreamscape Networks Limited.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the award (the vesting period). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects  
(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments 
that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of 
these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. The consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end 
of that period.  Transfers are made from the share-based payment reserve to either accumulated losses or issued capital 
upon the exercise/cancellation of options or issue of ordinary shares upon achievement of performance rights vesting 
conditions, respectively. 

 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 
Share options reserve 1,136 1,077 
Performance rights  182 387 

 1,318 1,464 

No new share based payment arrangements relating to options and performance rights were entered into during the year.  

Details of movements in the share-based payments reserve (comprising the values of options and performance rights) are 
set out in Note 21. 
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NOTE 22: SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (continued) 

Share options 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices of and movements in share options on issue 
during the year: 

 Year to  
30 June 2019 

Year to  
30 June 2018 

 No. Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$ 

No. Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$ 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 30,314,900 0.33 30,314,900 0.33 
Granted during the year - - - - 
Exercised, lapsed, or cancelled during the year - - - - 
Outstanding at the end of the year 30,314,900 0.33 30,314,900 0.33 
Exercisable at the end of the year 28,814,900 0.33 22,064,900 0.29 

The share options outstanding at the end of the year has a weighted average remaining contractual life of 647 days (2018: 
1,012 days). 

The fair value of the equity-settled share options on issue or granted during the year is estimated at the date of grant using 
the Black- Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The model input 
for the options on issue during the year are detailed as follows: 

 
Tranche 

1 
Tranche 2 

Tranche 3 
Lead 

Manager 
Expected volatility (%) 25 25 25 25 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53 
Expected life of options (years) 3.7 4.7 5.7 3.2 
Exercise price (AUD) $0.25 $0.35 $0.45 $0.25 
Grant date share price (AUD)1 $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 

1Grant date share price deemed to be the IPO capital raising price. 
 

Performance rights 

No performance rights were issued during the year. 

The performance rights have been valued at $0.25 each, based on the IPO capital raising price.  The Company has been 
required to record the value of these rights in its accounting records over the vesting period however this will only occur when 
the directors believe it is probable that any of the vesting conditions will be achieved. 
 

NOTE 23: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s overall risk management administers minimisation or avoidance of potential issues brought by external factors, 
such as market unpredictability, that may bring unfavourable effects on the financial performance of the Group.  

Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 
the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists 
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and 
retained earnings. 

None of the Group’s entities are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand operations, as well as to make routine expenditures such as tax and 
general administrative outgoings. 

Gearing levels are reviewed by the Board on a regular basis in line with its target gearing ratio, the cost of capital and the 
risks associated with each class of capital. 

Financial Risk Management 

The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk (including foreign currency exchange rate).  
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NOTE 23: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Credit Risk Management 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. 
The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 

The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of investment grade and above. This information is 
supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses publicly available financial 
information and its own trading record to rate its major customers. 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any Group of counterparties having 
similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties 
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the consolidated financial statements, net of any allowance for losses, 
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. 

Financial assets that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of ‘trade and other 
receivables’ (except ‘advances to suppliers’) and ‘cash and cash equivalents’. 

 

The categories of financial instruments are as follows: 
  2019 2018 

  $’000 $’000 
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  7,102 5,627 
Loans and receivables  3,981 3,845 
  11,083 9,472 
Financial liabilities    
Other financial liabilities  32,282 21,185 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying values. 

Liquidity risk management 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity 
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity 
management requirements. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

Summarised in the table below is the maturity profile of financial liabilities based on the remaining period, at the end of the 
reporting period and to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  

 
Weighted average 

interest rate 
Less than 1 

month 
1-3 months 3 months to 

1 year 
More than  

1 year Total 
Financial liabilities at 30 June 2019  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Trade and other payables – 1,506 1,830 2,547 – 5,883 
Borrowings 4.54 588 307 2,635 18,846 22,376 
Accrued expenses – 2,018 147 2,100 – 4,265 
Other current liabilities – 123 475 724 – 1,322 
Total  4,235 2,759 8,006 18,846 33,845 

 
Financial liabilities at 30 June 2018  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Trade and other payables – 1,080 1,545 2,387 – 5,012 
Borrowings 4.85 165 98 775 12,549 13,587 
Accrued expenses – 1,240 375 991 – 2,606 
Other current liabilities – 523 603 622 – 1,748 
Total  3,008 2,921 4,775 12,549 22,953 
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NOTE 23: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Foreign currency exchange rate risk management 

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities 
(revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign currency) and intercompany balances and transactions. The exposures to 
exchange rate fluctuations depend on the economic activity of each entity and where it operates. 

The Group identifies the major currencies required in its operating activities and constantly monitors their respective exchange 
rate movements by economic indicators from major events. The Group computes the current and forecasted cash inflows and 
outflows for each currency, identifies consumption requirement, and takes benefit by purchasing required foreign currency 
when it is favourable. The Group also mitigates the risk through exposure netting. 

The table below shows the Group’s net monetary assets (liabilities) that are originally denominated in currencies other than 
the functional currency (FC) of the entities of the Group. All amounts are converted in AUD. 
 

Foreign  2019 2018 
currency $'000 $'000 
In AED 226 9 
In AUD 612 48 
In EUR 68 53 
In GBP 218 (26) 
In NZD - (2) 
In PHP - (4) 
In SGD 269 246 
In USD 2,198 631 
In HKD 451 - 

 

The sensitivity analysis below details the Group’s sensitivity to fluctuations of exchange rates on their respective countries of 
operations. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items of the Group 
where the denomination of the balance is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower and adjusts their 
translation balance date for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A 5% sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to management and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. 

At reporting date, if foreign exchange rates had been 5% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
following are the effect in the consolidated financial statements: 
 

Functional 
currency 

Foreign 
currency 

Effect on Profit before 
income tax 

  $’000 
AUD SGD +/-13 
AUD EUR +/-3 
AUD USD +/-95 
AUD UAE +/-11 
SGD AUD +/-28 
SGD HKD +/-26 
SGD GBP +/-8 
SGD USD +/-3 
PHP AUD +/-3 
UAH USD +/-11 

The Group has no material exposure to foreign currency risk. 
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NOTE 24: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

The Group entered into transactions with parties that fall within the definition of a related party as contained in AASB 124. 
Related parties comprise the key management personnel and entities over which they have the ability to control or exercise 
a significant influence in financial and operating decisions. 

During the period, the Group entered into the following significant transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of 
business. 
 
(a) Key management compensation 

  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Compensation to key management personnel comprises:    

Salaries and other short term employee benefits  2,820,669 1,715,504 
Share-based payments  83,999 290,277 
Termination and post-employment benefits  (48,079) 116,573 

  2,856,588 2,122,354 
    

No member of key management personnel appointed as a Director during the period received a payment as part of his or her 
consideration for agreeing to hold the position. 

 
(b) Transactions with related parties 

The following transactions took place between the Group and related parties, who are not members of the Group during the 
financial year on terms agreed by the parties concerned: 

  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Purchases from a company in which a director has a 
controlling interest  977,169 8,305 
    

Loan Agreements  
• On 31 October 2017, a loan agreement was entered into with Cloudsafe Holdings Limited, a company owned by 

CEO and Managing Director, Mark Evans, for $3 million. The agreement was entered into at arm’s length and interest 
charged at 8% per annum. Funds were used for a business acquisition and the loan was repaid in full prior to 30 
June 2018. Total interest paid on the loan was $120,000. 
 

• On 28 September 2018, a loan agreement was entered into with Cloudsafe Holdings Limited, a company owned by 
CEO and Managing Director, Mark Evans, for US$1 million. The agreement was entered into at arm’s length and 
interest charged at 8% per annum. Funds were used for a business acquisition and the loan has been repaid in full 
prior to balance date. Total interest paid on the loan was US$59,178. 

 
Services Agreements 
The Company has renewed its existing agreement with Siteplus Pte. Ltd. The agreement covers the development and 
licensing of software promoted and commercialised by the Company. Siteplus is a related party to CEO and Managing 
Director, Mark Evans. The agreement was entered into at arm’s length. Total service fees paid to Siteplus during the year 
were $977,169. 
 

NOTE 25: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business combinations 
involving entities or business under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. 
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any 
contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
net identifiable assets. The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly 
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. 
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NOTE 25: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured 
to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is 
recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously 
been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate 
if that interest were disposed of.  

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at 
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.  

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, 
with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional 
information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts 
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.  

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.  

Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance 
with AASB 139, or AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, as appropriate, with the 
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 

Provisional accounting 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. These provisional amounts 
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities recognised, to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts recognised as of that date.  

Acquisitions previously provisionally accounted 

Vodien Group 

On 31 July 2017, Dreamscape Networks Limited acquired 100% of the share capital of Vodien Internet Solutions Pte. Ltd. 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Vodien Group provides domain registration and internet hosting services, currently holds 
the highest market share in website hosting in Singapore. 

The acquisition is in line with the strategy of the Group to expand using complementary business located in South East Asia.  

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination were previously provisionally 
accounted for in accordance with AASB 3. Dreamscape completed a comprehensive analysis of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, as well as a purchase price allocation, which produced the fair values reported below. 

  $’000  
Net assets acquired    

Cash and cash equivalents  730  
Trade Names²  23,224  
Trade and other receivables  311  
Prepayments and other current assets  8  
Property and equipment  1,083  
Other Intangible assets  40  
Other non-current assets  34  
Trade and other payables  (395)  
Deferred revenue  (2,905)  
Income tax payable  (248)  
Deferred tax liabilities  (4,058)  

Fair value of net assets acquired  17,824  
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NOTE 25: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 

Acquisitions previously provisionally accounted (continued) 
 

Consideration:    
Cash  18,456  
Shares issued at fair value – 42.5 million shares at 23.5 cents¹  9,987  
  28,443  
    
Goodwill recognised from the acquisition  10,619  

1 The Share Sale and Purchase Agreement for the Vodien acquisition deemed the shares to be issued at 25 cents per 
share, however under AASB2, the shares issued are required to be measured at the date the transaction was completed 
(31 July 2018) at which date the shares had a market price of 23.5 cents. 

² Accounting policy on Marketing Related Intangibles (Trade Names)  

Marketing related intangibles represent trade names of acquisitions. They have been assessed as having indefinite useful 
lives as they are expected to contribute to future economic benefits indefinitely as Dreamscape continues to sell its 
products under these brand names indefinitely and therefore invests in these brands through its marketing activities. 

The provisional amounts previously disclosed were amended to reflect the final allocations, which comprised attributing a 
value of $23.2 million to Trade Names (based on independent valuation) and the corresponding deferred tax liability of $3.9 
million. 

Quadra Hosting 

On 31 January 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brand assets 
of the business operating as Quadra Hosting.  

Quadra Hosting is a Gold Coast-based business with a solid local reputation. Principally focused on web hosting, 
approximately 95% of Quadra’s business comes from Hosting, with 5% coming from re-selling Domain Registrations. 

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination were previously provisionally 
accounted for in accordance with AASB 3. Dreamscape completed a comprehensive analysis of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, as well as a purchase price allocation, which produced the fair values reported below. 

  $’000  
Net assets acquired    

Customer contracts  -  
Systems  -  
Brand assets  -  
Deferred revenue  (308)  

Fair value of net assets acquired  (308)  
    

Consideration paid - cash  2,500  
Goodwill recognised from the acquisition  2,808  

The provisional amounts previously disclosed were amended to reflect the final allocations, which comprised allocating the 
excess consideration to goodwill. 
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NOTE 25: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 

Acquisitions previously provisionally accounted (continued) 

Whois 

On 12 March 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brand assets 
of the business operating as Whois. 

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination were previously provisionally 
accounted for in accordance with AASB 3. Dreamscape completed a comprehensive analysis of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, as well as a purchase price allocation, which produced the fair values reported below. 

  $’000  
Net assets acquired    

Customer contracts  -  
Systems  -  
Brand assets  -  
Deferred revenue  (43)  

Fair value of net assets acquired  (43)  
    

Consideration paid - cash  301  
Goodwill recognised from the acquisition  344  

The provisional amounts previously disclosed were amended to reflect the final allocations, which comprised allocating the 
excess consideration to goodwill. 

Glasshat 

On 8 June 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brand assets of 
the business operating as Glasshat. 

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination were previously provisionally 
accounted for in accordance with AASB 3. Dreamscape completed a comprehensive analysis of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, as well as a purchase price allocation, which produced the fair values reported below. 

  $’000  
Net assets acquired    

Customer contracts  -  
Systems  -  
Brand assets  -  
Deferred revenue  -  

Fair value of net assets acquired  -  
    

Consideration paid - cash  300  
Goodwill recognised from the acquisition  300  

The provisional amounts previously disclosed were amended to reflect the final allocations, which comprised allocating the 
excess consideration to goodwill. 

Current period acquisitions 

Domain Names Registrar  

On 1 July 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brands of the business operating as 
Domain Name Registrar (DNR) for a total consideration of $8.5 million. 

DNR’s principal focus is domain registrations (0.9% .au market share) and web hosting, with approximately 80% of their 
business coming from domain registrations and 20% from hosting. 

The consideration of $8.5 million was funded through Dreamscape’s existing Cash Advance Facility with Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia. There was no dilution to shareholders. 

From the date of acquisition, Domain Names Registrar has contributed $2.26 million to the consolidated revenue and 
approximately $0.64 million to the consolidated profit after tax attributable to the members of the parent. 

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination were previously provisionally 
accounted for in accordance with AASB 3. Dreamscape completed a comprehensive analysis of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, which produced the fair values reported below. 
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NOTE 25: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 

Current period acquisitions (continued) 
  $’000  
Net assets acquired    

Deferred revenue  (259)  
Fair value of net assets/(liabilities) acquired  (259)  
    
    

Consideration paid (inclusive of transfer duty) - cash  8,540  
Goodwill recognised from the acquisition  8,799  

The provisional amounts previously disclosed were amended to reflect the final allocations. 

PacHosting 

On 1 October 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of 100% of Hong Kong based hosting and 
domain business PacHosting from privately held Pacificnet Hosting Limited for a total consideration of USD $3.0 million.  

PacHosting’s principal business is website and email hosting for SMB’s and domain registration. The acquisition is consistent 
with Dreamscape’s strategy to acquire earnings accretive, low risk assets that will be integrated with the Vodien brand. 

The acquisition price was negotiated on deferred terms payable before 30 September 2019. Total consideration will be fully 
funded by internally generated cash flows and available debt facilities. 

From the date of acquisition, PacHosting has contributed $1.63 million to the consolidated revenue and approximately $0.38 
million to the consolidated profit after tax attributable to the members of the parent. Had PacHosting been part of the Group 
for the full period, total revenue from PacHosting would have been approximately $2.17 million and net profit $0.51 million. 

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination were previously provisionally 
accounted for in accordance with AASB 3. Dreamscape completed a comprehensive analysis of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, which produced the fair values reported below. 

  $’000  
Net assets acquired    

Brand assets  20  
Deferred revenue  (1,209)  

Fair value of net assets acquired  (1,189)  
    

Consideration paid – cash paid  3,501  
                               – cash payable   729  
Realised foreign exchange loss  (43)  
Unrealised foreign exchange loss  (37)  
Goodwill recognised from the acquisition  5,339  

The provisional amounts previously disclosed were amended to reflect the final allocations. 

Other acquisitions 

In addition to the above described acquisitions, Dreamscape also completed the following acquisitions during the financial 
year: 

Webserver.sg 

On 15 August 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of Webserver.sg Pte Ltd. 100% of Webserver’s 
shares were acquired by Dreamscape’s subsidiary Vodien Internet Solutions Pte Ltd. 

Webserver.sg focuses on delivering domain names, shared hosting and email hosting services that add significant value to 
end customers. 

Total consideration of S$460,000 was fully funded from operating cash flows. 

Hosting Australia 

On 1 October 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of the customers, systems, and brand assets 
of the business operating as Hosting Australia. Hosting Australia is a newly established hosting business based in Melbourne, 
compatible with Dreamscape’s business model. Total consideration of $800,000 was funded from internally generated cash 
flows and available debt facilities.  
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NOTE 25: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 

Current period acquisitions (continued) 

Servermule 

On 10 December 2018, Dreamscape Networks Limited completed the acquisition of Nimbus2 Pty Ltd. Nimbus2 operates the 
hosting business Servermule. 

Servermule is a well-established hosting business funded in 2011 and based in Sydney. Servermule is compatible with 
Dreamscape’s business model.  

Total consideration of $700,000 was funded from internally generated cash flows and available debt facilities. 

 

From the dates of acquisition, these three acquisitions combined contributed $0.81 million to the consolidated revenue and 
approximately $0.23 million to the consolidated profit after tax attributable to the members of the parent. Had these three 
acquisitions been part of the Group for the full period, total revenue would have been approximately $1.19 million and net 
profit $0.34 million. 

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in these three business combinations were previously provisionally 
accounted for in accordance with AASB 3. Dreamscape completed a comprehensive analysis of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, which produced the fair values reported below. 

  $’000  
Net assets acquired    

Cash and cash equivalent  50  
Property and equipment  19  
Trade and other payables  (11)  
Deferred revenue  (228)  

Fair value of net assets acquired  (170)  
    

Consideration paid - cash  1,960  
Realised foreign exchange gain  54  
Goodwill recognised from the acquisition  2,184  

The provisional amounts previously disclosed were amended to reflect the final allocations. 

Summary 

(i) Reconciliation of movements in intangibles for the year: 
 

Current year acquisitions  $’000  

Total consideration paid for acquisitions – Cash paid  14,001  
                                                                – Cash payable  729  
Net liabilities acquired  1,618  
Foreign exchange  (26)  
Excess consideration paid over net liabilities acquired  16,322  

Allocated as follows    
Goodwill on acquisitions  16,366  

 

(ii) Reconciliation of net cash outflow on acquisitions: 
Cash paid as consideration  14,001  
Less  Net cash acquired  (50)  
Net amount per Statement of Cash Flows  13,951  
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NOTE 25: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 

(iii) Reconciliation to Note 14: 

 
Balance per above    
Add: Amounts allocated to goodwill on final accounting  16,322  

• Vodien  10,620  

• Quadra Hosting  2,808  

• Whois  344  

• Glasshat  300  

Net amount per Statement of Cash Flows  30,394  
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NOTE 26: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Dreamscape Networks Limited and its subsidiaries 
listed in the table below: 
 
 

Name of subsidiary Registration and 
operation 

Beneficial 
interest % Equity Interest Cost of Investment 

$’000 
   2019 2018 2019 2018 

Pandora Enterprise Holdings Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 100% 10,234 10,234 

Crazy Domains FZ-LLC United Arab Emirates 100% 100% 100% 13 13 

Dreamscape Networks FZ-LLC United Arab Emirates 100% 100% 100% 13 13 

Dreamscape Networks (Australia) Pty Ltd. Australia 100% 100% 100% – – 

Web Address Registration Pty Ltd. Australia 100% 100% 100% 1,000 1,000 

Dreamscape Networks Europe Limited1 Cyprus 100% 100% 100% 7 7 

Dreamscape Networks Inc. Philippines 100% 100% 100% 2 2 

Dreamscape Networks Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100% 100% 100% 1 1 

Dreamscape Networks (Thailand) Co. Ltd.2 Thailand N/A 100% 100% 194 194 

Dreamscape Networks LLC Ukraine 100% 100% 100% 5 5 

Dreamscape Networks, Inc. 1 United States of America 100% 100% 100% 2 2 

Vodien Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 100% 2,853 2,853 

Domain Name Registrars (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% – – – 

Domain Registration Services Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% – – – 

Nimbus2 Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% – 700 – 

Dreamscape Networks International Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 100% 100% 100% – – 

PT Dreamscape Networks Indonesia Indonesia 100% 100% – 248 – 

Enetica Pty. Ltd Australia 100% 100% 100% 1,000 1,000 

Webcity Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 100% 457 457 

Vodien Internet Solutions Pte. Ltd. 3 Singapore 100% 100% 100% 28,443 28,443 

Webcity International Pte Ltd  Singapore 100% 100% 100% 3,000 3,000 

Webserver.sg Pte Ltd. Singapore 100% 100% – 482 – 

SGDomains.com Pte. Ltd. 3 Singapore 100% 100% 100% – – 

IT Works Internet Pte. Ltd. 3 Singapore 100% 100% 100% – – 

Singhost Pte. Ltd. 3 Singapore 100% 100% 100% – – 

Cloud Hosting Pte. 3 Ltd. Singapore 100% 100% 100% – – 

Cloud Hosting Sdn Bhd 3 Malaysia 100% 100% 100% – – 

Quest Rightshoring Services Pte Ltd 3 , 4 Singapore 100% 100% 100% – – 

Quest Rightshoring Services Inc 3 Philippines 100% 100% 100% – – 

1. Dormant entity 
2. On 9 March 2017, the directors of the Company deregistered Dreamscape Networks (Thailand) Co. Ltd. due to inactivity. As of 30 June 2019, the 

process of de-registration with the Department of Business Development in Thailand is in progress. Due to the immateriality of the balances, the profit 
or loss from discontinued operations was not shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

3. Vodien Internet Solutions and its subsidiaries were acquired for total consideration of $28.44 million. The cost of investment has been allocated wholly 
to Vodien Internet Solutions. 

4. This entity is currently in the process of being liquidated. 
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NOTE 27: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

The financial information for the parent entity, Dreamscape Networks Limited, has been prepared on the same basis as the 
consolidated financial statements, except share-based payments. The grant by the Company of options over its equity 
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution to that subsidiary 
undertaking. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised 
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity. 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
ASSETS   
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 431 178 
Trade and other receivables 8 - 
Total current assets 439 178 

Non-current assets   
Investments in subsidiaries 42,989 42,988 
Property and equipment 4 - 
Other investments 2,802 2,801 
Deferred tax assets 872 862 
Total non-current assets 46,665 46,651 

TOTAL ASSETS 47,106 46,829 

   
LIABILITIES   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 44 56 
Borrowings 2,452 313 
Accrued expenses 396 132 
Due to related parties 252 5,597 
Other current liabilities - 7 
Income tax payable 457 581 
Total current liabilities 3,601 6,686 

Non-current liabilities   
Borrowings 18,360 11,506 
Total non-current liabilities 18,360 11,506 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 21,961 18,192 

   
NET ASSETS  25,145 28,637 

   
EQUITY   
Issued capital 33,808 33,540 
Share-based payment reserve 1,318 1,465 
Accumulated losses (9,981) (6,368) 
TOTAL EQUITY  25,145 28,637 
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NOTE 27: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES (continued) 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 2019 2018 

 $’000 $’000 
   
Salaries and employee benefits (627) (591) 
Marketing and promotions - (7) 
General and administrative expenses (911) (1,067) 
Operating loss (1,538) (1,665) 

Other income - net   
Finance cost (1,167) (391) 
Foreign exchange losses - net (844) (1,185) 
Loss before income tax (3,549) (3,241) 

Income tax expense (64) (701) 
Net loss for the year (3,613) (3,942) 

   
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax - - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year (3,613) (3,942) 
   

 
NOTE 28: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

 2019 2018 
 $ $ 

Auditor of the parent   
Audit or review services 110,000 87,000 
Taxation compliance - 5,500 
Consultancy services - 18,000 
 110,000 110,500 

Network firm   
Audit or review of the financial statements 71,096 27,905 

Non-network firm   
Audit or review of the financial statements 57,627 55,273 

 

NOTE 29: SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 

Scheme Implementation Deed with Web.com Group, Inc. 

On 24 July 2019, the Company announced that it had entered a Scheme Implementation Deed (“SID”) with Web.com Group, 
Inc. (“Web.com”) under which Web.com (or its wholly owned subsidiary) will acquire 100% of the issued share capital of 
Dreamscape by way of a Scheme of Arrangement (“Scheme”). Web.com is wholly owned by an affiliate of Siris Capital Group, 
LLC (“Siris”), a leading private equity firm based in New York.   

Under the Scheme, Dreamscape’s shareholders will receive cash consideration of A$0.27 per Dreamscape ordinary share 
(“Scheme Consideration”). Thereafter, Dreamscape will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Web.com.   

The Scheme Consideration values Dreamscape’s issued equity at the date of this report at approximately A$105.2 million. 
The transaction will be funded from Web.com’s existing cash on balance sheet and its revolver facility and its offer does not 
include a financing condition. 

Once the Scheme is implemented and Dreamscape is delisted from the official list of the ASX, the Scheme is conditional 
upon entering the Siteplus Call Option Deed, under which Dreamscape has a call option over 100% of Siteplus’s shares for 
a grant price of A$2.00 (“Siteplus Call Option”). If approved by Dreamscape Shareholders and subsequently exercised by 
Dreamscape, an aggregate price of A$12 million will be payable to the owners of Siteplus (“Vendors”) and to certain 
performance rights holders. 

Siteplus is a related party to CEO and Managing Director, Mark Evans, thus the Siteplus Call Option Deed is therefore a 
transaction with a related party of Dreamscape. 
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NOTE 29: SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE (continued) 

The Scheme Meeting is being held on Monday 7 October 2019, where Dreamscape’s Shareholders will have the opportunity 
to vote on the Scheme and a separate General meeting will be also be held on 7 October 2019 to vote on the Siteplus Call 
Option. 

Subject to the various approvals and other conditions of the Scheme being satisfied, the Scheme is expected to be 
implemented in late-October 2019.   

 

Conversion of Performance Rights 

In line with the terms and conditions set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 3 November 2016, 806,666 performance 
rights previously issued to Senior Employees of the Group were converted to ordinary shares on 25 July 2019 as a result of 
satisfaction of the relevant Tranche 3 vesting condition.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the members of Dreamscape Networks Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Dreamscape Networks Limited (“the Company”) and its 
controlled entities (“the Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income [match to statement 
name], the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:  

 
a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its 

financial performance for the year then ended; and  

 
b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

 
Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  

 
Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to 
be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Revenue Recognition  

Note 4 of the financial report 

The total revenue of the Group for the year is 
$74.3 million. The Group predominately 
generates revenue through its three core pillars: 
Domain registrations, Hosting and Solutions. 

 

In accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, revenue is 
recognised when the service obligations 
attached to the contract have been met.  Where 
performance obligations are met over a period of 
time revenue, is recognised in line with this 
timeframe. 

 

Furthermore, recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position are amounts relating to net 
deferred revenue, which represent the net of 
unearned revenue and the deferred direct costs 
incurred in generating that revenue. 

 

We focussed on this area as a key audit matter 
due to the significance of revenue recognition to 
both the net result for the year and the net asset 
position of the Group. 

Our procedures included but were not limited to 
the following: 

• We reviewed the Group’s accounting 
policy with regards to the recognition of 
revenue and the deferral of revenue and 
related costs over the length of each 
contract or subscription agreement with 
each customer; 

• We reviewed the calculations of deferred 
revenue and related costs to ensure that 
they are correctly calculated and in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards; 

• We selected a sample of revenue 
transactions and agreed the transaction 
to the underlying supporting 
documentation;  

• We performed audit procedures to 
ensure that revenue is materially 
complete, by ensuring on a sample basis 
that each transaction that occurred during 
the year was correctly reflected in the 
financial statements. We did this by 
examining procedures surrounding cut-
off at balance date and ensuring, for a 
sample of purchase transactions, that 
each item selected corresponded to a 
sales transaction; and 

• We assessed the adequacy of the 
Group’s disclosures in respect to 
revenue, deferred revenue and deferred 
costs, with reference to AASB 15. 

Acquisition Accounting 

Note 25 of the financial report  

During the year, the Group acquired various 
businesses as outlined in note 25. 

 
The accounting for all acquisitions has been 
finalised.  In addition to the businesses acquired 
during the year, the accounting for all 
acquisitions previously provisionally accounted 
for has been finalised.  Refer to note 25 for 
further details of the consideration paid for each 
of these acquisitions.  Overall these acquisitions 
were considered significant for the Group. 
 

Our procedures included but were not limited to 
the following: 

• We read the acquisition agreements for 
each acquisition to understand their key 
terms and conditions; 

• We agreed the fair value of the gross 
consideration paid to supporting 
information; 

• We obtained audit evidence that the 
acquisition-date assets and liabilities of 
each business were fairly stated; 
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We focused on this area as a key audit matter as 
accounting for this transaction is a complex and 
judgemental exercise, requiring management to 
determine the fair value of acquired assets and 
liabilities, in particular determining the allocation 
of purchase consideration to goodwill and 
separately identifiable intangible assets. 

• We considered the allocation of the 
excess of the consideration paid over the 
identifiable net assets acquired to 
goodwill and other intangible assets, in 
accordance with AASB 3; and 

• We assessed the adequacy of the 
Group’s disclosures with respect to the 
acquisitions. 

Recoverability of goodwill and indefinite useful life assets 

Note 14 of the financial report 

At 30 June 2019 the Group’s goodwill is $39.9 
million.  

 

The Group reviews the carrying amount of 
goodwill annually, or more frequently if 
impairment indicators are present.  Before 
estimating the recoverable amount of the 
goodwill, the Group first identifies cash 
generating units (‘CGUs’) and then allocates the 
goodwill to the identified CGUs. 

 

The Directors’ assessment of the recoverable 
value of the goodwill was considered a key audit 
matter as the assessment process is complex 
and judgemental and is based on assumptions 
relating to future market or economic conditions.  
In performing the recoverability assessment, the 
Group has applied various assumptions with 
respect to revenue and cash flow growth rates 
based on expectations and estimates of future 
results of the CGUs. 

 

The Group has disclosed in note 14 to the 
financial report the assessment method, 
including the main underlying assumptions and 
the results of the assessment. 

 

Our procedures included but were not limited to 
the following: 

• We assessed the appropriateness of the 
identification of CGUs and the allocation 
of assets to the CGUs; 

• We assessed the key assumptions 
underlying the discounted cash flow 
valuations.  In doing so we: 

− Tested the mathematical accuracy of 
the discounted cash flow model; 

− Assessed key assumptions such as 
board approved forecast cash flows, 
including working capital levels, 
allocation of corporate costs and the 
discount rate used; 

− Assessed the Group’s assumptions 
for terminal growth rates in the 
discounted cash flow model in 
comparison to economic and industry 
forecasts; and 

− Assessed the discount rates used for 
their appropriateness. 

• We performed sensitivity analysis in 
respect of the assumptions noted to 
ascertain the extent of changes in those 
assumptions which either individually or 
collectively would materially impact the 
fair value of the CGUs. 

• We assessed the adequacy of the 
Group’s disclosures in note 14 
concerning the key assumptions. 

 
Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not 
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  

 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  

 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.  

 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

Report on the Remuneration Report  

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included within the directors’ report for the year ended 
30 June 2019.   

 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Dreamscape Networks Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2019 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

 

 

 

HLB Mann Judd L Di Giallonardo  

Chartered Accountants Partner 

 

Perth, Western Australia 

30 September 2019 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Information as at 26 September 2019 

 
Distribution Schedule 

Top 20 Holders of Ordinary Shares 
Rank Name Shares % 

1 BLUEGEKO HOLDINGS LIMITED 132,680,000 34.05 

2 CLOUDSAFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 93,760,000 24.06 

3 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 35,316,577 9.06 

4 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED <DB A/C> 21,250,000 5.45 

5 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 15,137,686 3.88 

6 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 12,348,792 3.17 

7 MR QUINTIN RUSS 10,419,279 2.67 

8 MR NATHAN DAVID RUSS 9,725,000 2.50 

9 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 7,750,000 1.99 

10 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA 4,383,043 1.12 

11 MR GAVIN DAVID GIBSON + MS LAUREN ALISSA GIBSON <GIBSON FAMILY A/C> 4,000,000 1.03 

12 MANHATTAN INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  3,000,000 0.77 

13 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP>  2,288,639 0.59 

14 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  2,216,806 0.57 

15 MR MARK EVANS  1,630,000 0.42 

16 POCRY INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED <POCRY INVESTMENT A/C> 1,561,154 0.40 

17 MR EVAN GEORGE CROSS + MRS DONNA SHARON CROSS <DEC 
SUPERANNUATION FUND A/C>  1,500,000 0.38 

18 DMX CAPITAL PARTNERS LIMITED  1,500,000 0.38 

19 HACKETT FOUNDATION NOMINEES PTY LTD <HACKETT FOUNDATION A/C> 1,200,000 0.31 

20 ST HEDWIG VILLAGE 1,150,000 0.30 

Top 20 holders of ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES 362,816,976 93.11 

Balance of register 28,836,356 6.89 

Total 389,653,332 100.00 

 
Range 

Ordinary share 
holders 

1 - 1,000 24 

1,001 - 5000 60 

5,001 - 10,000 106 

10,001 - 100,000 140 

100,001 Over 79 

Total number of share holders 409 

Number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel 26 
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Unlisted Options  
As at 26 September 2019 there were 28,814,900 unlisted options on issue held by 7 holders, of which director Peter James 
has 9,500,000 representing 32.97% of the total unlisted options. 

 

Voting Rights 
The voting rights attached to each class of equity securities are as follows: 

a. Ordinary Shares - All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction; and 
b. Unlisted Options - Do not carry any voting rights. 

 
Substantial Shareholders 
The number of ordinary shares held as disclosed in substantial holding notices given to the Company: 

 

Name Shares % 

BLUEGEKO HOLDINGS LIMITED 141,268,000 36.43 

CLOUDSAFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 95,070,000 24.52 

WEB.COM GROUP, INC. 77,769,330 19.99 

MR ALVIN POH CHUN CHIANG 21,250,000 5.50 

MR JERVIS LEE WEN 21,250,000 5.50 






